Global Peatland Restoration

Manual

Martin Schumann & Hans Joosten

Version April 18, 2008 Comments, additions, and ideas are very welcome to:

> Martin.Schumann@uni-greifswald.de Joosten@uni-greifswald.de

Institute of Botany and Landscape Ecology, Greifswald University, Germany

Introduction

The following document presents a science based and practical guide to peatland restoration for policy makers and site managers. The work has relevance to all peatlands of the world but focuses on the four core regions of the UNEP-GEF project "Integrated Management of Peatlands for Biodiversity and Climate Change": Indonesia, China, Western Siberia, and Europe.

Chapter 1 "*Characteristics, distribution, and types of peatlands*" provides basic information on the characteristics, the distribution, and the most important types of mires and peatlands.

Chapter 2 "Functions & impacts of damage" explains peatland functions and values. The impact of different forms of damage on these functions is explained and the possibilities of their restoration are reviewed.

Chapter 3 "*Planning for restoration*" guides users through the process of objective setting. It gives assistance in questions of strategic and site management planning.

Chapter 4 "*Standard management approaches*" describes techniques for practical peatland restoration that suit individual needs.

Unless otherwise indicated, all statements are referenced in the IPS/IMCG book on Wise Use of Mires and Peatlands (Joosten & Clarke 2002), that is available under http://www.imcg.net/docum/wise.htm

Contents

1	Characteristics, distribution and types of peatlands	1
	1.1 PEATLAND CHARACTERISTICS 1.2 PEATLAND DISTRIBUTION 1.3 PEATLAND TYPES	
2	Peatland functions and impacts of damage	
	2 1 PEATLAND DEGRADATION STAGES	11
	2.2 PEATLAND FUNCTIONS	
3	Planning for restoration	19
	3.1 Defining the problem	
	3.2 Setting the goals	
	3.2.1 Technical constraints	
	3.2.2 Legal constraints	
	3.3 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION AND STAKEHOLDER INVOLVEMENT	
	3.3.1 Methods for enhancing public participation	
	3.4 PLANNING THE MEASURES	
	3.5 MONITORING	
	3.5.1 Monitoring biological and habitat diversity	
	3.5.2 Monitoring hydrology and chemistry	
4	Standard management approaches	
	4.1 THE RESTORATION OF PEATLAND BIODIVERSITY	
	4.1.1 Improve habitat conditions by:	
	4.1.2 Introduce target species by:	
	4.1.3 Reduce human impact by:	
	4.1.4 Reduce impact of animals by:	
	4.2 RESTORATION TO IMPROVE PEATLAND HYDROLOGY	
	4.2.1 Elevate water level on site by:	
	4.2.2 Reduce evapotranspiration by:	
	4.2.3 Raise catchment water table by:	
	4.2.4 Reduce water surplus by:	
	4.2.5 Provide water of desired quality by:	
	4.3 PEATLAND RESTORATION TO REDUCE GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS	
	4.3.1 Re-activate peat formation by:	
	4.3.2 Reduce erosion by:	
	4.3.3 Reducing noxious substances by:	
	4.3.4 Prevent (expansion of) fire by:	

List of Figures

Fig. 1: The interrelations between plants, water and peat in a mire	2
Fig. 2: Approximate global peatland distribution	3
Fig. 3: The historical difference between "bog" and "fen"	4
Fig. 4: Ecological mire types for Central-Europe	5
Fig. 5: The difference between terrestrialization and paludification	6
Fig. 6: The two subtypes of terrestrialization mires	7
Fig. 7: Water rise and flood mires - a result of externally induced water level rise	7
Fig. 8: In percolation mires water flows through the peat body	8
Fig. 9: In surface flow mires water flows over the peat body	8
Fig. 10: In acrotelm mires most water flows through the uppermost peat layers	9
Fig. 11: Hydraulic conductivity and water level characteristics of sloping mires	10
Fig. 12: Feedback mechanisms between lower water levels and hydraulic peat properties	23
Fig. 13: Target audience during the preparation of restoration projects	26
Fig. 14: W-walk as appropriate method for evaluating or sampling field recordings	31
Fig. 15: Hydrological processes in a fen ans its catchment	33
Fig. 16: Piezometer nests along a transect (from Davidssonet al. 2000)	34

List of Tables

Table 1: Ecological mire types and their pH characterization after	4
Table 2: Overview of hydrogenetic mire types	6
Table 3: Peatland degradation stages	12
Table 4: Overview of peatland functions	15
Table 5: Sustainability of peatland functions and their required or provoked quality	16
Table 6: Key components to assess the condition of peatlands	19
Table 7: International conventions and agreements relevant to mires and peatlands	28
Table 8: Aspects to consider when designing a monitoring scheme	30
Table 9: Measures to restore biodiversity in peatlands	38
Table 10: Measures to restore peatland hydrological functions	42
Table 11: Measures to restore peatland with respect to reducing climate impact	46

1 Characteristics, distribution and types of peatlands

1.1 Peatland characteristics

In those wetlands where the water level is stable near the surface (just below, at, or just above), the remains of dead plants and mosses do not fully rot away. Under conditions of almost permanent water saturation and consequent absence of oxygen they accumulate as *peat*. A wetland in which peat is actively accumulating is called *mire*. In most mires, the process of peat accumulation continues for thousands of years so that eventually the area may be covered with meters thick layers of peat. An area of land with a soil of peat is called a *peatland*.

Undrained peat contains between 85 % and 95 % of water, and can be regarded as "a mass of water wrapped up in some organic material".



Crucial for understanding peatlands is the awareness that in peatlands "plants", "water", and "peat" are very closely connected and mutually interdependent (Fig. 1). The plants determine what type of peat will be formed and what its hydraulic properties will be. The hydrology determines which plants will grow, whether peat will be stored and how decomposed the peat will be. The peat structure and the relief determine how the water will flow and fluctuate.

These close interrelations imply that when any one of these components changes, the others will change too. Not necessarily at once, but in the longer run inevitably...



Fig. 1: The interrelations between plants, water and peat in a mire

The presence of peat, the permanent water logging, and the continuous upward growth of the surface are the major characteristics of mires.

The organisms that live in mires are adapted to the special and extreme site conditions that prevail, including

- The high water level and the consequent scarcity of oxygen and the possible presence of toxic ions (Fe²⁺, Mn²⁺, S²⁻) in the root layer
- The continuous peat accumulation and rising water levels which suffocates perennial plants
- The often spongy soil, that makes trees easily fall over or drown under their own weight
- The scarcity of nutrients as a result of peat accumulation (by which nutrients are fixed in the peat), limited supply (as in rainwater-fed mires) or chemical precipitation (as in groundwater-fed mires, where phosphates are bound by calcium, iron and humic substances). Scarcity of ions in the mire water furthermore complicates osmoregulation in submersed organs and organisms
- The generally cooler and more humid climate than on the surrounding mineral soils, with strong temperature fluctuations
- The acidity caused by cation exchange and the abundance of organic acids
- The presence of toxic organic substances produced during decomposition and humification (i.e. the breakdown and alteration of organics material)
- The humus rich 'black' water, complicating orientation and recognition in aquatic animals.

As a result of these extreme conditions, mires are in generally species poor when compared to mineral soils in the same biographic region. Many mire species are, however, strongly specialised and not found in other habitats.

1.2 Peatland distribution

Because of the necessary water saturation, peat formation strongly depends on climatic and topographic conditions. Mires are especially abundant in cold areas, i.e. the boreal and subarctic regions, and in wet regions, i.e. in oceanic areas and in the humid tropics. They prevail on flat land areas, such as western Siberia, the Hudson Bay Lowlands (Canada), the SE Asian coastal plains, and the Amazon Basin (see Fig. 2).

Peatlands are found in almost every country of the world (see the IMCG Global Peatland Database: www.imcg.net/gpd/gpd.htm). In total 4 million km² on Earth (some 3 % of the land area) is covered with peatland.



Fig. 2: Approximate global peatland distribution

1.3 Peatland types

There are many ways of classifying peatlands that vary according to the purposes of the classification.

Classically peatlands are classified into **bogs** that lay higher than their surroundings ("high mires") and **fens** in landscape depressions ("low mires") (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3: The historical difference between "bog" and "fen"

This largely parallels the modern division in **ombrogenous mires** that are fed only by precipitation (rain, snow) and **geogenous mires** that are also fed by water that has been in contact with mineral soil or bedrock.

Precipitation water is poor in nutrients and somewhat acid. Through contact with the mineral soil/bedrock the chemical properties of the water change.

As a result, peatlands in different situations receive very different qualities of water. Especially the acidity (base saturation) and the nutrient availability (trophic conditions) of the water strongly determine which plant species will grow in the mire. This is the basis for the distinction of **ecological mire types** that differ from each other with respect to acidity, trophy, and characteristic plant species (Table 1, Fig. 4).

Table 1: Ecological mire types and their pH characterization after (Sjörs 1950)

Peatland type	pH range
bog	3.7 - 4.2
extremely poor fen	3.8 - 5.0
transitional poor fen	4.8 - 5.7
intermediate fen	5.2 - 6.4
transitional rich fen	5.8 - 7.0
extremely rich fen	7.0 - 8.4

The pH trajectories (see Table 1) are largely determined by chemical buffer processes and therefore probably have a worldwide validity.

It should be noted that the terms "poor" and "rich" in Table 1 refer to the level of basesaturation (as indicated by pH), not to nutrient availability. It is wrong (but often practised!) to equal these terms with oligotrophic ("poorly fed") and eutrophic ("well fed"): extremely rich fens are often very poor in nutrients! The latter terms should be restricted to express nutrient availability and primary production, as inter alia indicated by the C/N (or N/C) ratio of the topsoil or by the C/N and P/N ratios in the plant material.



Fig. 4: Ecological mire types for Central-Europe (after Succow & Joosten 2001)

The ecological mire typology is especially relevant for species diversity and species conservation, because rare and threatened peatland plants mostly occur under carbonaterich/subneutral and oligo-/mesotrophic conditions (mostly with P limitation, see Wassen et al. 2005). The dependence of these local mire conditions on the quality of the incoming groundwater necessitates a thorough assessment of the hydrological relations with the surroundings (see also chapter 3.3).

Where the ecological mire typology focuses on the resulting site conditions (i.e. is more descriptive), a second important mire typology, the **hydrogenetic typology**, deals more with the underlying processes (i.e. is more analytic). The latter typology considers the hydrological conditions of peat formation as well as the hydrological role of the mire in the landscape and is especially useful from a functional and management point of view (see Succow & Joosten 2001).

Classically a distinction is made between **terrestrialisation**, when peat develops in open water, and **paludification**, when peat accumulates directly over a formerly dry, paludifying mineral soil (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5: The difference between terrestrialization and paludification

The modern hydrogenetic typology distinguishes two main groups of mires (Table 2):

1. In **horizontal mires** the water level forms a horizontal plane in a closed basin. The water movement is largely vertical (*water level fluctuations*) and the water level of the mire only passively follows the water level of the surrounding catchment.

2. In **sloping mires** the water level forms an inclining plane and the water movement is mainly horizontal (*water flow*). The laterally flowing water is retarded by vegetation and peat. Vegetation growth and peat accumulation thus cause a rise of the water table in the mire and often also in the catchment area.

Table 2: Overview of hydrogenetic mire types

Horizontal mir	es	Sloping mires		
Schwingmoor	terrestrialisation mires	Percolation mires		
Immersion	terrestrumsuton nines			
Water rise mire	S	Surface flow mires		
Flood mires		Acrotelm mires		

The most common horizontal mires are **terrestrialization mires**, formed by peat formation in 'open' water. They can be subdivided into **schwingmoor mires** (floating mats, e.g. *Papyrus* islands) and **immersion mires** in which peat accumulates underwater on the bottom (e.g. many *Phragmites* stands) (Fig. 6).



Fig. 6: The two subtypes of terrestrialization mires

Water rise mires originate when the water level in the catchment rises so slowly that a formerly dry depression becomes wet, but no open water (lake, pool) is formed (Fig. 7). A rise in groundwater level may be caused by an increase in water supply (by changes in climate or land use) or a decrease in water losses (by sea level rise, beaver dams, the origin of stagnating layers in the soil, etc.).

Flood mires are periodically flooded by rivers, lakes or seas. They also originate and persist under conditions of rising water levels (rising sea water level, rising river beds, etc.). As such they are related to water rise mires (cf. Fig. 7). The difference is the mechanical action of periodic lateral water flow and associated sedimentation of allogenic sand and clay.



Fig. 7: Water rise and flood mires - a result of externally induced water level rise

Sloping mires are found as percolation, surface flow, and acrotelm mires.

Percolation mires are found in areas where the water supply is large and evenly distributed over the year. The weakly decomposed or coarse peats are highly permeable and the water flows via a considerable part of the peat body (see Fig. 8).



Fig. 8: In percolation mires water flows through the peat body

Percolation mires are normally groundwater-fed mires, because only large catchment areas can guarantee a large and continuous water supply in most climates. In constantly humid climates also ombrogenous percolation mires exist, such as the *Sphagnum*-dominated mires of Kolchis (Georgia) and the swamp forest bogs of SE Asia.



Fig. 9: In surface flow mires water flows over the peat body

Surface flow mires are found where the ample water supply is regular but exceeded by water losses (through evapotranspiration and run-off) during short periods. During these short events oxygen penetrates the peat. The resulting stronger decomposition and compaction makes the peat less permeable and forces the water eventually to overflow the mire surface (Fig. 9). Because of the low hydraulic conductivity of their peats and the large water supply, surface flow mires can occur on and with steep slopes.

Three subtypes of surface flow mires can be distinguished (Fig. 9): *Blanket bogs* only occur under very oceanic conditions and cover the lands like a blanket, i.e. regardless of the relief. They are solely fed by rainwater. *Hill slope mires* are additionally fed by (near-)surface run-off from the surrounding mineral slopes. *Spring mires* occur where artesian groundwater exfiltrates; their peats often includes carbonates, iron ore, and silicates that have precipitated from or washed in with the groundwater.

Acrotelm mires occupy an intermediate but very special position. The plant material they produce is very resistant against decay and the top decimetres of the peat is consequently little decomposed. Water flow is largely confined to these top layers (Fig. 10). The distinct gradient in hydraulic conductivity in the top layers (Fig. 11), combined with its large storage capacity, constitutes a very efficient water level regulation device, the so-called *acrotelm*. In times of water shortage, the water level drops into a less permeable range and run off is retarded. Evapotranspiration then still leads to water losses, but because of the large storage coefficient of the peat, the water level drops only to a small extent.



Fig. 10: In acrotelm mires most water flows through the uppermost peat layers

Globally the *raised bog* is the only acrotelm mire type so far identified. In the raised bogs of the northern hemisphere, only a few (hummock and lawn building) *Sphagnum* species (*S. fuscum, S. rubellum/capillifolium, S. magellanicum, S. imbricatum,* and *S. papillosum*) can build an effective acrotelm. The global distribution of raised bogs, far beyond the area where percolation and surface flow mires may exist, illustrates the effectiveness of the acrotelm regulation mechanism. The tropical peatswamps of Southeast Asia are also acrotelm mires. In these mires the acrotelm is largely constituted by the vegetation (lowermost tree stems/roots) and litter (Joosten 2008).

The hydraulic conductivity and water level characteristics of these three types of sloping mire are presented in Fig. 11.



Fig. 11: Hydraulic conductivity and water level characteristics of sloping mires

As a result of water, vegetation, and peat interacting over extensive time ("self-organisation") various **morphological types** of mires with typical shapes and surface patterns develop, such as plateau bogs, concentric bogs, eccentric bogs, and aapa fens (see about their origin Glaser 1999, Couwenberg & Joosten 2005, Couwenberg & Joosten 1999).

Also external mechanisms may be important in the configuration of peatland macro- and micro-patterns. Of special importance is ice formation in the arctic, subarctic and boreal zones, that may give rise to specific morphologic peatland types, such as the "polygon mires" in areas with continuous permafrost and the "palsa" (frost mound) and "peat plateau" mires in areas of discontinuous permafrost.

2 Peatland functions and impacts of damage

<u>Restoration</u> is the process of bringing something back what you have lost¹.

In order to restore you have to know

- 1. what you would like to have back
- 2. whether it is possible to get it back
- 3. what you have to do to get it back

The first question relates to <u>functions</u>: which valuable products or services did the damaged peatland formerly provide?

The second question relates to <u>disturbances</u>: which relevant properties of the peatland have been disturbed and have any irreversible changes taken place?

The third questions relates to <u>methods</u>: which techniques must be applied to restore the relevant peatland functions?

2.1 Peatland degradation stages

In chapter 1.1 (Fig. 1) we have seen, that in a peatland/mire strong interrelationships exist between 'plants', 'water', and 'peat': when one component is affected, eventually all components will change.

Although these components are thus closely interconnected, they do not react in a similar way. Generally organisms are more easily affected (e.g. by cutting and hunting) than hydrology (e.g. by ditching and pumping) and hydrology again much easier than the peat body. Metaphorically speaking, we can call peat a more 'heavy' component than plants: it is more difficult to get it in motion, but when it is moving, it is more difficult to stop and to reverse the change.

Therefore it is useful to distinguish peatland degradation stages according to the 'heaviness' of the components affected (Table 3).

As a general rule, components that are more difficult to affect are also more difficult to restore. When only the vegetation has been damaged, but the hydrological conditions have remained unaffected (degradation **stage 1** 'minor', Table 3), restoration is simple: as soon as the disturbing factor has been removed, the mire will regenerate spontaneously, provided that sufficient diaspores of the key plant species are available. The same accounts for **stage 2** ('modest') after recovery of the recently changed hydrology. Examples of the latter are the spontaneous regeneration of buckwheat fire cultivation fields in Northwestern Germany (Joosten 1995) or of afforested peatlands on the German-Czechian border (Edom 2001) after collapse or overgrowing of the drainage ditches.

¹ Synonyms for restoration include rehabilitation, restitution, reconstruction, revitalisation, remediation, etc. Restoration is where actions are taken to assist regeneration. Regeneration is the <u>spontaneous</u> re-development to a state as existed before disturbance.



Peatland components								
	plan	ts	wate	er	peat			e
Degradation stage	Fauna / flora	Vegetation	Hydrology	Soil hydraulics	Form and relief	Peat deposits	Site characteristics	Peat accumulation rat
0 Minimal							Natural spontaneous vegetation: undrained,	> 0
0. Minimal							possibly some change in flora and fauna	(≤0)
1. Minor							Change in vegetation because of low-intensity grazing/mowing or forestry; not/slightly drained; no pedogenesis	> 0 (≤0)
2. Modest							Freshly deeply drained; spontaneous vegetation changed through recent drainage or regular harvesting; no pedogenesis yet	≤0
3. Moderate							Long-term very shallow drainage; some pedogenesis; spontaneous vegetation changed by long-term use; paludiculture	≤0 (>0)
4. Major							Long-term deeply drained or inundated, strong pedogenesis; peatland form modified by subsidence and oxidation	< 0 - << 0
5. Maximal							Intensively drained; strong pedogenesis or compact peats surfacing; peat body severely affected by peat erosion, oxidation or extraction	<< 0 - <<<0
	incr	easin	g deg	rada	tion			
	deci	reasir	ng res	toral	oility			
Not -	Sligh	tly -	S	Sever	ely af	fected	1	

In **stage 3** ('moderate') the situation becomes more complicated. This stage represents peatlands (especially percolation and acrotelm mires) where long lasting utilisation has changed the soil hydraulic properties but peat accumulation has continued. Examples are the mires in the Biebrza valley (NE-Poland) and on the Ruoergai Plateau (Tibet, China) where many centuries of low-intensity mowing and grazing have lead to the accumulation of newly grown, more compact peats over the originally loose percolation peats. In the Biebrza the resulting larger water level fluctuations, after the recent cessation of mowing, stimulate the establishment of scrubs and woodland on the originally open mires. Furthermore the formation of 'rainwater lenses' in the less permeable peat leads to acidification and the loss of rare species of calcareous habitats (Schipper et al. 2007). In Tibet the change in peat type has lead to a complete change from percolation mires to surface flow mires that are much more sensitive to overgrazing and erosion (Schumann & Joosten 2007). A repair of the water regime of the original percolation mires is tedious and requires long-lasting sophisticated management or even the removal of the uppermost compact peat layers over large areas.

Peatland degradation on the Tibetan Plateau (China)

Thousands year of grazing with yaks and sheep, in combination with the deposition of clastic erosional products from the overgrazed hills, have lead to a compaction of the peat layers on the Tibetan Plateau (China). As a result the peat has become largely impermeable and the water that formerly flew through the whole peat body ("percolation mires") is now forced to flow over the surface ("surface flow mires"), which leads to a whole range of environmental impacts.



areas with much **nitrate or sulphate input** suffer from increased oxidation by these oxidants (that also function under wet conditions) which lead to a stronger compaction of the peat. The latter has been a cause for the degradation of non-drained mires in the Czechian mountains through air pollution.

Many peatlands in highly populated areas find themselves in degradation stages 4

('major') or 5 ('maximal'). **Stage 4** represents peatland of which the peat is irreversibly degraded by long-term drainage or where a strongly decomposed peat is surfacing as a result of peat mining. Percolation and acrotelm mires require the hydraulic propertied of non- or little humified peats to regulate their hydrology. Because of the slowness of peat growth, it may take tens to (many) hundreds of years to re-install new peat deposits with the right properties.

Degradation **stage 5** includes peatlands that have lost so much peat by mining, erosion or oxidation that the peatland body has got completely out of hydrological balance. Locally and temporally value biocoenoses can still be conserved or restored, but restoration of a self-regulating mire has become impossible.

But eventually all peatland components influence each other.

The mire landscape components (Table 3) influence each other in two directions. Modification of the peatland's hydrology, for example, will directly affect the area's flora and fauna. On the longer run changes in the hydrology will also impinge on the hydraulic soil properties, on the relief, and eventually on the composition and the mere existence of the peat body, even when these are not directly damaged in first instance. Unlike sand, peat is not an inert but a dynamic substance.

The degradation stages therefore differ fundamentally from each other. A further degradation stage does not only imply a more intense modification of the same components, but also a qualitative jump to a more "heavy" stage, i.e. a more important component for mire functioning.

For this reason more degraded peatlands are more difficult to restore. They require explicit attention to components that might not have been directly impacted, but that have degraded as the longer-term but inevitable result of degradation of other components. In general peatland restoration should start with restoring the "heaviest" components, i.e. those with the strongest long-term impact (the ones further to the right in Table 3) because these determine also the condition of the weaker components (those further to the left). There is, for example, little sense in replanting peatland/wetland vegetation, when the damage to hydrology has not yet been repaired.

2.2 Peatland functions

The products and services ("functions", see Table 4) that mires and peatlands provide are manifold.

They have been extensively reviewed in the book "The Wise Use of Mires and Peatlands" (available under <u>http://www.imcg.net/docum/WUMP Wise Use of Mires and Peatlands book.pdf</u>).

Table 4: Overview of peatland functions (products and services that peatlands provide) (modified after Joosten and Clarke 2002).

Function		Examples
1. Production		Providing water, food, raw materials, energy, labour
2. Carrier		Providing space and substrate for habitation, cultivation, energy generation, conservation, recreation
3. Regulation		Regulating climatic, water, soil, ecological, and genetic conditions
	4a. social amenity	Providing company, friendship, solidarity, cosiness, respect, home
	4b. recreation	Providing opportunities for recreation, recuperation, stress mitigation
	4c. aesthetic	Providing aesthetic experience (beauty, arts, taste)
	4d. signalisation	Providing signals (indicator organisms, status, monetary price, taste)
4. Information	4e. symbolisation	Providing embodiments of other functions (mascots, status symbols)
	4f. spirituality	Providing reflection and spiritual enrichment (religion, spirituality)
	4g. history	Providing notions of cultural continuity (history, heritage, ancestors)
	4h. existence	Providing notions of ecological and evolutionary connectedness
	4i. cognition	Providing satisfaction of curiosity, science
5. Transformation	n (= education)	Providing a change of preferences, character building
6. Option (= bequ	uest)	Providing insurance, heritage

Some of the functions can only be performed by pristine mires; others can also or even only be executed by peatlands that are modified by human action.

Some functions are sustainable, i.e. they can be exploited infinitely; others destroy their own peatland resource base and can only be provided for a limited period.

Table 5 relates the major functions of a peatland to the required or resulting quality state of the peatland. Further specification of functions may narrow down the peatland quality states that provide that concrete function.

Table 5: Sustainability of peatland functions and their required or provoked quality.

For disturbance classes, see Table 3. For further backgrounds of the functions, see Joosten & Clarke (2002). The sustainability of the functions is related to the peatland character: we consider, for example, peatland forestry as sustainable when it sustains the peat deposit, not when the peat body is oxidized by continuing forestry.

			degrad	lation	restor	ration	
		Peatl	and d	egrada	ation s	stage	
P	Peatland functions		1. minor	2. modest	3. moderate	4. major	5 maximal
P	roduction functions:						
	Peat extracted and used ex situ						
	Drinking water						
	Wild peatland plants						
	Wild peatland animals						
	Wet peatland agri- and horticulture (paludiculture)						
	Drained peatland agri-and horticulture						
	Transitory collection peatland forestry						
	Conserving management forestry						
	Progressive management forestry						
С	Carrier functions:						
	Space						
R	Regulation functions:						
	Long-term carbon sequestration (global climate)						
	Long-term carbon storage (global climate)						
	Short-term carbon sequestration / storage (global climate)						
	Transpiration cooling in warm and dry climates						
	Radiation cooling in boreal zones						
	Flood control and guaranteed base flow						
	Emission of C, N, and P to surface waters						
	Groundwater denitrification						
	Surface water reduction of B.O.D., solids, P, and N						
Ir	formational functions:						
	Social amenity, employment						
	History, identity						
	Peatland recreation						
	Peatland aesthetics						
	Symbolisation, spirituality, and existence						
	Cognition						
	Signalisation						
	Transformation/education						
	Option functions						

potentially sustainable	unsustainable	compatible with this class	type dependent	incompatible with this class
----------------------------	---------------	----------------------------	----------------	------------------------------

Below we give an overview of the major peatland functions and their restoration perspectives.

Production functions

Peat extraction generally leads to moderate or major disturbance. Only peat extraction in (small) pits without substantial drainage and the limited subsurface winning of "sausage peat" may lead to peatland with minor disturbance. Restoring a peatland for future peat extraction (after re-instalment of peat accumulation) is conceivable but has not yet been implemented because of the long time needed to regrow a commercially extractable volume of peat. See also *Carbon sequestration*, which also depends on peat accumulation.

The provision of good quality *drinking water* is generally limited to peatlands with little drainage and human use. More disturbed sites lead to overloading of the water with peat particles, humus acids, and nitrogen and the water quality rapidly decreases.

Wild *mire plants and animals* can by definition only be harvested from non- or slightly degraded or adequately restored locations. Wild *peatland plants and animals* can also be harvested from modestly degraded (i.e. drained) peatlands.

Wet agri- and *horticulture* (paludiculture, e.g. reed, Sphagnum, Sago or Jelutung cultivation, Wichtmann & Joosten 2007) focus on moderately disturbed peatlands (incl. major disturbed peatlands after rewetting). *Drained peatland agri-* and *horticulture* require at least major disturbed peatlands.

Forestry may take place in various intensities on various peatland degradation types. Simple harvesting ("transitory collection") may take place from both undrained and slightly drained peatlands. Other forms of forestry are associated with stronger impact (drainage, planting, fertilizing).

Carrier functions

The provision of *space* for all kinds of purpose is not bound to specific peatland degradation types.

Regulation functions

Long-term carbon sequestration is a function explicitly restricted to active peat accumulating systems, i.e. to minimally, minor and moderately disturbed mires. Peat accumulation is only possible when the water level in the peatland is - on average in the long-term - near the surface. The exact level depends on the peatland type. Both too low and too high water levels are detrimental to peat accumulation and the associated functions.

Long-term carbon storage in the peat is a function performed by all peatlands where peat is still available. The carbon storage of the peatland, however, decreases with the degree of disturbance. Furthermore also the biomass Carbon store of the existing vegetation must be taken into account. *Short-term carbon sequestration and storage* through increased biomass takes place in case of peatland drainage in the boreal zone.

Transpiration cooling in warm and dry climates is brought about by evapotranspiration of wet peatlands and therefore bound to minimally to moderately disturbed sites. In contrast, regional *radiation cooling* in colder climate zones happens after peatland drainage.

Flood control and guaranteed base flow are functions restricted to specific types of mire and degradation stages. As peat accumulation requires high water levels during most of the year, the available storage capacity in little disturbed mires is rapidly filled up and the surplus water drains quickly in times of abundant water supply. Minimally to moderately disturbed peatlands therefore generally show peak discharge, directly related to precipitation, and little base flow. Only mire types of which the peat layer can shrink and swell with changing water supply ("mire breathing") or that can store a large quantity of water at the surface (e.g. in hollows and pools) have a "buffering" effect on catchment hydrology.

After drainage, peak discharge is strongly reduced because the peat layer is no longer completely saturated. Intensively drained peatlands and severely degraded peat soils, on the other hand, will increase peak charge rates again. Restoring the flood control function therefore requires critical awareness of the hydrological conditions.

Depending on the character of the peatland, degraded peatlands may have a substantial *emission of C, N, and P* to the surrounding surface waters. This does not apply to sites where peat is still accumulating. *Groundwater denitrification* takes place as long as Nitrate enriched groundwater gets into contact with saturated (anaerobic) peat. *Reduction of organic matter* (B.O.D.), solids, P, and N is a function of wet peatland vegetation receiving surface water and therefore restricted to non-and little disturbed sites.

Social amenity and *employment* can be provided by all peatlands, with somewhat limited possibilities in case of pristine peatlands. Also *history* and *identity functions* are not restricted to specific degradation stages. *Peatland recreation* and *aesthetics* are more concentrated on less disturbed sites. This accounts in even stronger degree for the *symbolisation*, *spirituality*, and *existence* functions.

The *cognition functions* of mires and peatlands provide opportunities for the development of knowledge and understanding. The palaeoecological archive value is typical for peatland; this value generally decreases with increasing degradation. Archive values can not be restored: when they are gone, they are gone forever.

Another important cognition aspect is biodiversity. The highest biodiversity values (both species and ecosystem biodiversity) are connected to the least disturbed sites. In some cases also slightly drained and exploited peatlands may have a high biodiversity value, e.g. in case of species rich meadows and hayfields.

Signalisation is the function of acting as a signal or indicator. As accumulating ecosystems, mire ecosystems have an important signalisation value. As wildernesses that have been spared from direct human activities for a long time, unmanaged mires offer valuable "zero" references to the effects of human interference.

Special adaptations of mire plants to acquire the necessary nutrients make these plants useful as environmental indicators, e.g. *Sphagnum* species as indicators of atmospheric pollution.

3 Planning for restoration

Peatland restoration comprises all deliberate action that initiates or accelerates the recovery of a degraded peatland to a former, better state². Restoration deals with three main questions (chapter 2):

- 1. What do you want to have back?
- 2. Is it possible to get that back?
- 3. What do you have to do to get it back: what measures are necessary to reach the restoration objective?

This chapter deals with the techniques to address these questions.

3.1 Defining the problem

The first step of any restoration project is to *define the problem*: what is wrong with the present situation? This requires the identification of the key processes (biological, hydrological and chemical) responsible for the observed changes by analysing the landscape components and their functioning (Table 6).

Table 6: Key components to assess the condition of peatlands. For further information: see Brooks & Stoneman 1997a, pp. 59-88 and 247-266, Wheeler & Shaw 1995b, pp. 136-147, Siuda 2002 and Edom 2007.

What?	Whv?	How?			
		Desk studies	Field studies		
Catchment topography	 Site location (distance to machinery, building material, plant material, work power, accommodation of workers) Access (roads, water ways, stable ground) Potential hazards (waste disposal sites, polluters) Effects of adjacent land use Ecological infrastructure 	Topographic maps, aerial photographs, satellite images (http://earth.google.com http://maps.google.de/)	- Levelling - Surveying and mapping		
Peatland topography	 Possible hazards (old peat cuttings, lakes, rivers) Weirs, dams, buildings, machinery, areas of waste disposal 	Topographic maps, aerial photographs, satellite images (http://earth.google.com http://maps.google.de/)	 Levelling Surveying and mapping Kite or balloon photography 		
Climate	 Expectable amount of precipitation Periods of water surplus or shortage High or low precipitation Periods of frozen ground 	 Meteorological data Historical descriptions Literature Responsible authorities 	 Measurement and monitoring Interviews with locals automatic weather station 		
Catchment geology	HydrogeologyMineral substrate	- Geological maps - Geological Service	- Generally not feasible		

² By definition, it is not possible to *restore* an object to something it has never been.

Peatland stratigraphy	 Peat types / peat thickness Peatland type and origin Suitability of peat for construction and foundation 	- Literature / survey reports	- Line transects with peat coring equipment.
Catchment relief	 Sources of water Water flow paths Drainage and erosion lines Sources of pollutants 	- Geomorphological maps - Digital elevation models	- Levelling
Peatland relief	Water flow pathsDrainage and erosion lines	- Relief maps - Digital elevation models	- Levelling
Catchment hydrology	 Recent hydrological changes (drainage, groundwater extraction, land use changes) Climate change 	 Literature, survey reports Land use reports (drainage, mining, forestry, agriculture Responsible authorities 	 Piezometers in line transects Water levelling Water flow and flux determination
Peatland hydrology	 Natural and anthropogenic drainage patterns Water quality Water budgets Water levels 	 Literature, survey reports Land use reports (drainage, mining, forestry, agriculture) Responsible authorities 	 Piezometers in line transects Water levelling Water flow and flux determination
Catchment soils	• Trophic situation	 Soil maps Responsible authorities 	- Soil mapping
Peatland soils	• Hydraulic properties (conductivity, storage coefficient, capillarity)	- Soil maps - Responsible authorities	- Soil mapping
Catchment flora and fauna	 Metapopulations Areas and species of special (conservation) interest Change in species composition Invasive species Selection of key areas via bio- indication 	 Literature, survey reports Aerial photographs, satellite images (http://earth.google.com http://maps.google.de/) 	 Species survey and documentation Mapping, collecting, catching, hunting Interviews with locals
Peatland flora and fauna	 Areas and species of special (conservation) interest Invasive species Bio-indication of site conditions 	 Literature, survey reports Historic photographs Aerial photographs 	 Species survey and documentation Mapping, collecting, catching, hunting Interviews with locals
Cultural patterns	• Historical and archaeological objects of conservation value	 Institutes of archaeology and local heritage Literature, survey reports 	- Inventory (see also topography)
(Former) catchment use	 Former tree coverage of surrounding uplands Drainage or irrigation systems 	 Literature, survey reports Responsible authorities Historical descriptions (photographs, paintings) Aerial photographs 	 Consultation of (former) land users Analysis of fossils and macro-rests (palaeo-ecology)
(Former) peatland use	 Drainage or irrigation systems Former land use (cutting, grazing, mowing, burning, fertilizing, chemical treatment) 	 Literature, survey reports Responsible authorities Historical descriptions (photographs, paintings) Aerial photographs 	 Consultation of (former) land users Analysis of fossils and macro-rests (palaeo-ecology)
Protection status	Conservation status Legal concerns	- Responsible authorities	- Generally not feasible

3.2 Setting the goals

Not all features of the original ecosystem have to be restored, the focus may well be on specific aims. These aims (i.e. which peatland functions have to be restored) have to be formulated clearly, in priority order, and concretely in order to:

- prioritize between conflicting aims (too often irreconcilable aims are formulated),
- identify adequate methods (different aims require different methods, see chapter 4),
- enable effective evaluation (unspecific aims can not be evaluated).

In order to set realistic objectives, you have to know what you *can* restore. Is it technically possible to re-install the desired functions or has restoration become impossible because of irreversible changes in the peatland itself (e.g. soil hydraulics, species loss) or in its wider surroundings (e.g. landscape hydrology, climate)?

The question 'can you restore?' is, however, not only depending on scientific and technical potential (see chapter 4), but also on legal and societal constraints. This means that the process of *objective setting* not only requires technical knowledge, but also good insight in the other stakeholders' interests and plans.

First things first: limiting further degradation

The first goal in restoration is to limit further degradation. When active peat growth can not be re-installed, limiting further degradation is the highest goal that can be achieved.

A peatland without peat accumulation remains subject to peat degradation and oxidation, which eventually leads to the total disappearance of the peat, the peatland, and the peatland associated functions.

The primary method for limiting further degradation is to restore the original wetness as early and as good as possible.

3.2.1 Technical constraints

The technical feasibility of restoring specific peatlands functions strongly depends on the stage of degradation (cf. Table 3).

Least affected and most easily restorable are peatlands in which only *flora* or *fauna*, i.e. specific typical peatland species, but not the other site conditions (esp. hydrology) have been disturbed, e.g. by poaching, over-collection or fire. Restoration of such sites only involves facilitating spontaneous re-colonisation of the species (e.g. by creating suitable vegetation gaps for establishment) or the re-introduction of diaspores (e.g. by seeding) or whole organisms (e.g. by planting). In most cases, however, species disappear not because of direct overexploitation but because of changes in site conditions.

As most peatland exploitation involves drainage (see Table 3), changes of the peatland's *hydrology* is the most common problem in peatland restoration. In mires, a change in mean water level of some centimetres may lead to a substantial change in vegetation and may strongly affect peat accumulation and mineralization rates and associated functions.

If the peatland is only recently drained, and peatland soil hydraulics and relief have not yet been affected, restoration measures can be restricted to making the drainage structures ineffective, e.g. by damming, filling-in ditches or by destroying subsurface drainage pipes. Additionally measures for re-establishing flora and fauna may have to be taken.

Most peatlands are, next to rainwater, dependent on surface- or groundwater. Therefore, a peatland can also be affected by hydrologic interventions outside the area itself that impact on water levels, dynamics or quality in the mire. The latter is obvious in case of pollution or eutrophication of incoming surface water. Less obvious, but often equally important, is decreased groundwater inflow into the mire as a result of drainage or water extraction in the hydrological catchment of the mire, even on kilometres distance. This may lead to increasing rainwater influence, acidification, eutrophication (because hitherto unavailable phosphates become mobilised), vegetation changes, and a loss of rare species, even though the water *levels* are hardly affected. Especially oligo- to mesotrophic, subneutral to calcareous mires have become rare in this way.

If such changes in the hydrological landscape setting have taken place, restoration must involve hydrological interventions in the larger surroundings or significant hydrochemical engineering on-site.

Changes in the peatland's hydrology lead to changes in *soil hydraulic conditions* – certainly on the longer run. Processes induced by drainage include:

- subsidence, i.e. the lowering of the surface,
- compaction,
- fissuring through continuous shrinkage and swelling, particularly in drier climates, and
- decomposition and mineralization (conversion of organic material to inorganic substances).

These processes change the hydraulic peat properties (porosity, storage coefficient, hydraulic conductivity, capillarity) and these changes are largely irreversibly. They may decrease the peatland's capacities for water storage and regulation. The formation of vertical and horizontal fissures impedes upward (capillary) water flow and lead to a more frequent and deeper drying out of the soil. Through increased activity of soil organisms drained peat soils become loosened and fine-grained and may eventually become unrewettable.

Restoring peat hydraulic conditions is virtually impossible. The compacted peat prevents the water from entering the peat body, the decreased storage coefficient of the peat leads to larger water level fluctuations, which increases peat decomposition (Fig. 12). This means that peatlands where the hydraulic peat properties have been changed often cannot be restored to their former hydrological functioning, but that *alternative restoration aims* have to be formulated.



Fig. 12: Feedback mechanisms between lower water levels and hydraulic peat properties

Percolation mires, for example, originally kept their stable water level by a large water supply that could easily be distributed by percolation through the permeable peat. In degraded state, the compacted peat cannot conduct water anymore and water has to be distributed via surface flow. Acrotelm mires normally keep their water levels stable by the large storage capacity of their peats. In degraded state, the compacted peat cannot provide this function anymore and the water, necessary for maintaining high and stable water levels for renewed peat formation, has to be stored above the peat.

As undrained peat consists of 85 - 95 % of water, peatland drainage inevitably leads to substantial changes in the *peat relief* (of up to several meters!). In natural mires, a strict relationship exists between the form (surface relief) of the peatland, the hydraulic conductivity of the peat, and the amount of water that is transported through the peat body. A change in relief, through drainage, peat extraction, fire or whatever reasons, changes this delicate balance and the results cannot easily be predicted because a whole chain-reaction of processes with opposing effects are triggered:

- The change in relief leads to a change in water outflow from the peat and to an increased surface run-off, which leads to a drop in water level (which again changes the relief and may increase the amount of water transported via the peat).
- The lower water level causes compaction and increased decomposition of the peat, which may lead to a lower hydraulic conductivity (smaller pores) but in case of cracking of the peat also to increased drainage.
- The lower water levels and larger water level fluctuations encourage the establishment of higher (trees, shrubs) and deeper rooting (dwarf shrubs, grasses) vegetation, which affects the hydraulic peat properties through mechanical cracking (wind!) and perforation. The taller vegetation may furthermore enhance evapotranspiration leading to lower water levels etc...

The hydrological imbalance resulting from the changed peatland form is often addressed by remodelling the peatland relief to the groundwater surface of the degraded peatland. In case of bogs, the expectation that this results in an overall groundwater level at the peatland surface mostly doesn't come true. The compact peat at the surface (strongly humified Sphagnum peat)

mostly has a small storage coefficient that inevitable water losses through evapotranspiration continue to lead to significant falls of water levels in summer.

3.2.2 Legal constraints

Restoration planning has to consider legal constraints. Special permission might be required from:

- international law relevant to peatland restoration (Table 7),
- mining legislation, e.g. for the extraction of peat to dam and fill drains or to shape an optimal relief,
- construction legislation, e.g. for constructing buildings (shelters for guards or visitors, viewing platforms), water regulation devices (weirs, dams) and access facilities (paths, boardwalks, bridges, roads),
- water legislation, e.g. for changing drainage patterns and water levels by blocking ditches, impounding streams, groundwater extraction, discharge or supply of water, creating water reservoirs or lakes,
- waste disposal legislation, e.g. for importing foreign filling or construction materials into the site.

Possible rights (common land, rights of way, turbary, riparian, mineral, shooting and grazing rights) as well as the location of public facilities (gas pipes, electricity lines, and roads) have to be taken into consideration in any restoration project.

Table 7: International conventions and agreements relevant to mires and peatlands (see also Gardner 2003)

United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change	http://www.unfccc.de/	
Convention to Combat Desertification (UNFCCD)	http://www.unccd.int/main.php	
Convention on Wetlands of International Importance Especially as Waterfowl Habitat (RAMSAR)	http://www.ramsar.org/	
Protocol to Amend the Convention on Wetlands of International Importance Especially as Waterfowl Habitat	http://ramsar.org/	
Basel Convention on Transboundary Movements of Hazardous Wastes and their Disposal	http://www.basel.int/	
Bonn Convention on Migratory Species (CMS)	http://www.wcmc.org.uk/cms/	
Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD)	http://www.biodiv.org/	
Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species (CITES)	http://www.cites.org/	
Vienna Convention for the Protection of the Ozone Layer	http://www.unep.ch/ozone	
Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer	http://www.unep.org/ozone/	
Lusaka Agreement on Cooperative Enforcement Operation Directed at Legal Trade in Wild Fauna and Flora		
Regional Seas Conventions	http://www.unep.ch/seas/	
Barcelona Convention (Mediterranean Action Plan)		
Convention on Trade in Dangerous Chemicals and Pesticides (PIC)	http://irptc.unep.ch/pic/	
Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs)	http://www.chem.unep.ch/pops	
Aarhus Convention on Access to Information, Public Participation in Decision Making and Access to Justice in Environmental Matters	http://www.unece.org/env/pp/	

In many countries there is a statutorily ruled commitment for the analysis's of possible effects of planned activities onto the environment (*Environmental Impact Assessments*, EIAs).

Information's on Environmental Impact Assessments can be found under:

http://ec.europa.eu/environment/eia/home.htm and

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/01959255.

Activities that oblige an EIA are indicated in the EIA laws, which also determine, who has to conduct the study, when it has to be conducted, within what period of time, and which aspects have to be given special attention to. The set-up of an EIA, the draft and final reports may be discussed in public before final decisions are made.

As obtaining all necessary licenses might be time consuming, it might be useful to undertake the project in stages.

3.3 Public participation and stakeholder involvement

The success of a planned restoration project will depend on public support and acceptance. In a democratic society individuals have the right to be informed or consulted about matters that might affects them. A clear understanding of the project background and goal provided to authorities, stakeholders, and the general public (Fig. 13) will involve as many people as possible in the planning of the project from an early stage on. In Europe the Aarhus Convention (www.unece.org/env/europe/ppconven.htm) requires that there is opportunity for public participation in decisions about developments that may have a significant effect on the environment. Article 6(4) of the Aarhus Convention states that: "each party shall provide for early public participation, when all the options are open and effective public participation can take place".



Fig. 13: Target audience during the preparation of restoration projects

Public participation is a key factor for the success of every restoration project as it supports the legitimacy of decision-making and the enhancement of democracy. Its "bottom-up" approach allows individuals or groups with a weak voice to exert influence on decision making. Public participation also enriches the planning phase by sharing knowledge and resources as it raises awareness and responsibility, increases transparency, resolves conflicting views and identifies realistic goals, determines needs and desires, and enables social learning (Petts & Leach 2000).

Public participation means to ask and encourage the public to directly and actively take part in the process of decision making. According to the power that is given to the public, there are different degrees of *participation*. The lowest degree of participation means that the responsible authority only provides *information* about previously made decisions. In other cases it provides information's to certain topics to collect the public's *feedback*, which will be taken into its consideration. The public can also be directly involved into decision making e.g. by *consultation*. The highest degree of participation means that a determined group of individuals is enabled to *decide* on its behalf about certain questions.

If contrasting aims are appearing, a well organised form of public participation may lead to a decision more or less satisfactory for every party involved. There are numerous participative consultation methods (Rowe & Frewer 2006) that are appropriate to provide attendance for a great number of people (chapter 3.3.1).

3.3.1 Methods for enhancing public participation

There are numerous methods to enable public participation in environmental decision making (Vancouver Citizens Committee 2006, OECD 2001), including:

- Education and provision of information,
- Information feedback,
- Involvement and consultation,
- Extended involvement.

Education and provision of information

Leaflets and brochures include written material that is used to spread information, to change people's views and to increase transparency. This material can be used to reach a wide audience, but is also useful to reach particular target groups.

Newsletters are a flexible tool of publicity that can be designed to changing / different needs of different audiences. Newsletters are useful to convey information that may involve a series of publications.

Unstaffed exhibits or displays may include graphic presentations to visualize proposals. If they are placed in public areas the audience may assimilate the information at a suitable time.

Advertisements may be used to spread limited information (e.g. announce proposals, arrangements for meetings and other activities). If they are adequately spread they can reach a large audience. Otherwise only those are reached that read the publication, where the advertisement is placed.

Articles in public newspapers and *radio or television* comments are a cheap way of spreading information's for a local audience. The contributions have to be prepared carefully, because limited editorial control may lead to problems of interpretation.

Videos and DVDs are an increasingly cheap, professional and credible way to spread propaganda. The audience may consume the information that may contain graphics or other images at their convenience.

Organised site visits are a classical tool to bring issues to life by providing experiences of particular activities and issues at case study sites.

Information feedback

If *staff* is available *at* public *exhibitions or displays* questions can be responded and comments may be received.

Staffed telephone lines can be provided for interested people to obtain information, to ask questions and to make comments about proposals. Because it is not intimidating this method is a convenient way to receive comments from interested parties.

Regularly updated *websites* are a cheap way of providing information but also of inviting global readers for feedback. As not all interested parties might have internet access other means of participation have to be provided.

A limited number of participants may be included into *telephone conferences*. As this requires technical possibilities and staff that is able to operate it, this method may be expensive, but it enables people with difficulties to travel to talk to officials or politicians and to take part into the discussion.

A *public meeting* is a possibility to gather stakeholders and affected parties to present and exchange information and to discuss proposals. Such meetings should be carefully prepared. They are very complex and unpredictable and might be hijacked by certain groups. The following aspects should be taken into account when organizing a public meeting:

- Set clear objectives for participation.
- Identify and target all the relevant stakeholders.
- Adapt the participation process to the objectives and needs of all stakeholders.
- Ensure sufficient time for participation.
- Make essential information available in advance, to enable participants to identify questions.
- Provide adequate opportunities for all participants to name issues for discussion, e.g. by employing an independent and well prepared chairman or facilitator.
- Realize an honest and understandable procedure, e.g. by offering opportunities for the interviewing of experts.
- Guarantee a credible and interactive process of participation that generates responses, e.g. by stimulating group discussions amongst the participants themselves.
- Provide a clear understanding of the situation, its challenges and possible solutions, e.g. by presenting background knowledge about different ideas and concerns.
- Set out clear evidence of how participants' views have been considered in the final decision (Petts & Leach 2000).

To gather information from people that would not go to public meetings, *surveys, interviews and questionnaires* (self administered, face to face or via telephone) are often used. It might be very expensive to design a proper survey, but poorly prepared surveys often have a low response rate.

Involvement and consultation

A limited number of participants can exchange information and discuss proposals at *workshops*. Workshops can be targeted at certain stakeholder groups to solve particular problems. They are more effective if the number of the participants is kept small.

Forums can be organised to gauge response to planned actions and to gain understanding of the perspectives, ideas and concerns of invited participants. This is an intensive way of exchanging and might be expensive because facilitating and serving is required. Because only a small number of people is able to participate additional possibilities for participation are necessary.

Open house means that interested parties are invited to visit a certain location (e.g. site or operational building or office) on their convenient time to view information materials and to ask questions about proposals.

The same may be organised for a potentially global audience by "*open houses*" on the *internet* (e.g. bulletin boards, mailing lists or discussion forums). This is a cheap way of including people that have access to the internet.

Extended involvement

Community advisory committees are small groups of people that are representing certain interests or areas of expertise. Such committees can discuss parts of the proposal in detail.

Planning for real is a process of community consultation that begins with contacting local networks to identify problems, to generate ideas and to focus on local priorities by establishing local working groups that may participate during the project planning.

Citizens' Juries (a microcosm of the public) enable a representative group of jurors to participate in the planning of proposals. Jurors consider an issue over three or four days, ask questions, discuss the issue among them, and finally develop a concluding report.

It might be difficult to realize a broad public participation in areas with little tradition or with ethnic minorities. In such cases participation may be promoted by:

- meeting people at regularly visited places, rather than expecting them to come to a special venue,
- involving different communities representing organisations or individuals,
- distributing written materials in the local language(s),
- engaging interpreters for face-to-face interviews and translators for written responses,
- training staff in cultural awareness, anti-racism and equal opportunity issues,
- spread information by different media (e.g. via newspapers, television, radio, and internet),
- creating an atmosphere of community events (guided field trips, action days, exhibitions, and presentations),
- offering refreshments, or tea and biscuits, providing encouragements (e.g. prizes or gifts).

3.4 Planning the measures

During the next step, appropriate instruments or measures to reach the aim have to be determined by careful analysis. When restoration turns out to be technically possible, other questions become opportune, including:

What will be the effects of the actions undertaken? What are possible side-effects during the restoration process and when the aims have been reached? What are the effects outside of the area directly involved? What are the effects on the long run? (Environmental Impact Assessment, EIA).

How will the costs relate to the benefits? (Cost-benefit-analysis). Many factors may determine the eventual costs of a restoration project including:

- the costs for land purchase (of the site or of affected surrounding land),
- the costs of experts to study and interpret stratigraphical, hydrological, and biological site characteristics (an often underestimated post, that may be more cost intensive than the ultimate measures),
- the rents of machinery, equipment and operators,
- the costs of construction materials and their transport,
- the costs of plant material (incl. the growing of not available species),
- the wages of working staff,
- the costs for executive staff,
- the costs of compensation for disadvantaged stakeholders,
- the costs of regulating public access by the installation of boardwalks, signs and fences,
- the costs for monitoring and management.

To save costs, it is advisable to use - wherever possible - local materials (peat, wood, sods, sand). The use of foreign materials (impermeable cores of plastic or metal) may, however, be necessary to construct durable and optimally performing devices.

Restoration for nature conservation

Restoration for nature conservation is subject to extra boundary conditions, as in nature conservation the *'means*' are an implicit part of the *'ends*'.

'Natural' is everything that is originating or has originated spontaneously. In contrast, *'artificial'* is every deliberate (conscious) act and its result. Every deliberate act therefore increases the artificiality and decreases the naturalness of a restoration project.

For nature conservation it is therefore imperative to limit activities to the minimum: "*Doing less is better than doing more*."

The artificiality of measures increases in the following order:

- 1. "*doing nothing*": the passive, defensive measures necessary to prevent injury to existing values (= external management, veto-regulation), e.g. refrain from cleaning ditches to support sukksession; prohibition of digging drainage ditches in a mire;
- 2. "*consciously doing once*": one-off activities to improve conditions, e.g. the blocking of drainage ditches in a peatland to stop drainage;
- 3. "*consciously doing continually*": the active, continual measures necessary to maintain favourable conditions (= internal management, prescriptive regulation), e.g. annual mowing and removal of vegetation to support less competitive plant species.

Next to the choice of appropriate materials, strategic management planning also includes

- the choice of skilled contractors (preferably with ample peatland experience, because peat is a very special and sometimes risky construction material and substrate),
- the choice of the suitable time of the year (as peatlands are in some seasons better accessible and processible than in others),
- the planning of the available money, taking possible extreme weather conditions into account,
- the implementation of adequate safety regulations adapted to the specific peatland conditions.

3.5 Monitoring

Monitoring, i.e. closely and systematically observing, enables to notice significant changes and is therefore of high value to answer the following questions:

- Have objectives been met or surpassed?
- Was the money spent effectively and efficiently?
- What can or could have been improved?
- How can the management be adapted best?

Making this information available allows the improvement of other projects and sets a foundation for future monitoring programmes.

Monitoring objects, methods, and periods have to be adapted to the individual characteristics and peculiarities of each project (Table 8).

Site history	What is the actual level of degradation (see chapter 2.1)?		
	Did the site support the target habitat in recent years?		
	Did the site contain target species (condition of the seed bank)?		
Site location	Where are the sources for spontaneous recolonisation (target species)?		
	Where are disturbances (human activities, waste, pollutants, and problem		
	species)?		
	How does the site interfere with its surrounding?		
Site situation	Depending on size, zonation and complexity of the site an adequate		
	number of monitoring areas have to be established (e.g. sloping sites will		
	show different development in the upper than in the lower parts).		
Applied methods	s Will natural revegetation take place or was initial support of the		
	establishment applied?		
	Where there changes in the site's hydrology?		
	Are there management or maintenance requirements (e.g. to maintain a		
	certain water level by pumping of water or by adjusting weirs)?		
Project aims	What is the project focusing on?		
	What is the appropriate scale of monitoring (the whole catchment; focal		
	areas of the site) and where should sampling plots be located (along		
	transects, as nested plots, in regular or stochastic design)?		
	How long and how intensive should the monitoring take place (e.g. to		
	assess fluctuations during an adequate period)?		
	Is it possible to optimise the monitoring by modelling selected		
	parameters?		

Table 8: Aspects to consider when designing a monitoring scheme

As with restoration aims, monitoring objectives should be simple, measurable, achievable and repeatable. To monitor changes in relation to the applied measure the starting situation should be assessed and documented.

Successful monitoring requires the appropriate time of the year (considering the sites accessibility, flowering, mating or breeding periods of target species) and the right monitoring strategy. Depending on the question and the available budget different monitoring strategies (evaluation or sampling) are conceivable.

Evaluation

The recorder assesses the condition of the whole site by valuing the condition of selected site parameters. The results are recorded during the walk. In most cases a w-walk (Fig. 14) is a useful way to cover all representative sections of a site. For more difficult shaped sites provisional planning (e.g. with the help of aerial photographs or large scale maps) will be necessary to plan the monitoring walk.



Fig. 14: W-walk as appropriate method for evaluating or sampling field recordings.

Under uncomplicated conditions (e.g. even and homogenous fen meadows) the evaluation of easily assessable attributes (e.g. vegetation mosaic, surface erosion or over grazing) is recommended rather than the laborious sampling of detailed site parameters that can not be recognized from a distance (e.g. hydrological and chemical peat properties, presence or abundance of target species). Before monitoring, focal interests and appropriate indicators should be identified.

Plant and animal (indicator) species may indicate the existence of wanted or unwanted environmental conditions by their absence or presence.

Ecological site characteristics (e.g. the cover of trees, shrubs, grasses and mosses as well as the area of bare peat and litter) may indicate complex changes on site.

Land use characteristics (e.g. new buildings, roads, paths; agricultural or forestal land use practises on site or within the catchment) may indicate relevant changes.

Sampling

Sampling involves the quantitative assessment of site parameters at selected and marked sampling positions (permanent plots). Their number has to be modified in relation to site size and number of relevant complexes (e.g. open or afforested areas, open water bodies, bare peat surfaces and streams).

Documentation

A well prepared recording sheet which is drawing attention towards the previously selected indicators helps to standardise the recordings of every field visit. Examples for the design of recording sheets are given by Mitchley et al. (2000), Quinty & Rochefort (2003), Brooks & Stoneman (1997a), Wagner & Wagner (2003), BUWAL & WSL (2002), BUWAL (2002a, b) BUW and Clarkson et al. (2004).

It is useful to take photographs (if possible from fixed points) at every field visit to provide visual histories of changes and to support monitoring of only rarely visited sites and sites for which monitoring resources are limited. Fixed photograph points can be marked by permanent electronic markers (e.g. magnets placed beneath the surface) or wooden or metal posts (both susceptible to vandalism). In every case it is useful to reference permanent structures on and off site (by direction and distance).

Especially when wide and monotonous areas have to be monitored aerial photography or remote sensing is very useful (see Jackson et al. 1995, Bindlish et al. 2006, Poulin et al. 2002). On a smaller scale positive results can be achieved by installing camera platforms or by using model aircrafts or balloons (Brooks & Stoneman 1997a).

All recording sheets and photographs (raw data) should be filed to prevent misleading interpretation.

For the monitoring of peatland restoration achievements a combination of the following components is recommended:

- Biodiversity: plant and animal species,
- Habitat diversity: distribution of surfaces and structures,
- Hydrology: water level and flow pattern, and
- Chemistry: availability of nutrients or poisonous substances.

3.5.1 Monitoring biological and habitat diversity

Field mapping, aerial photographs and satellite imagery are useful to monitor the distribution of habitat structures (microhabitats like open water bodies, mosaics of dry and wet spots, areas of bare peat). Additional data on the temporal variability of water levels, trophic status and disturbance (e.g. by herbivores, tourists, land use activities) are necessary for assessing habitat quality (Davidsson et al. 2000). Information about vegetation structure (height, presence of different layers, spatial distribution of vegetation types) should be assessed during field visits (Atkinson 1985 in Clarkson et al. 2004).

To produce comparable data on biodiversity, plot size and location have to be standardized and the taxonomic level of inventory has to be fixed. As it (due to limited recourses or taxonomic complexity) generally will not be possible to assess all species, focal groups (*target species*) have to be selected and monitored with a carefully designed methodology.

Target species

In degraded peatlands the original communities are often no longer present. Therefore the concept of *target species* for restoration and monitoring was developed. These target species include *flagship species* (popular 'interesting' and 'nice' species like birds, orchids and butterflies) as well as *protected*, *rare* and *endangered species* (of national or international importance). But also *indicator species* that reflect important site parameters and *keystone species*, which play a special role as ecosystem 'engineers', are useful targets of monitoring.

For practical reasons monitoring should as far as possible concentrate on species that are easily recognizable and easy to register.

Bioindication

Plant and animal species are valuable indicators of complex environmental conditions. Especially plant species (that are bound to their habitat) reflect habitat changes in a detailed way by their presence, disappearance or absence. Important regional overviews for the indicator value of plant species are provided by Koska et al. (2001), Koska (2001), Ellenberg et al. (1991a, b) and Tiner (1991, 1999). Also the monitoring of selected animal species (e.g. dragonflies, butterflies, and amphibians) may deliver insight into complex habitat conditions. Monitoring strategies are described by Brooks & Stoneman (1997a), Eades et al. (2003), Budd (1991), Clarkson et al. (2004), Dryden (1997) and Treweek et al. (1997).

Vives (1996) and Crofts & Jefferson (1999) offer an extensive monitoring bibliography.

3.5.2 Monitoring hydrology and chemistry

The assessment of basic hydrological parameters is an essential part of peatland monitoring. Water levels and water level fluctuations play a major role in mire ecosystems (see chapter 1). Too high water levels may reduce plant productivity which negatively impacts on peat formation (Joosten 1993, Couwenberg & Joosten 1999). Too low water levels may encourage plant productivity, but also impede peat accumulation by enhancing aerobic decay (Clymo 1984).

The phreatic water level (the distance between groundwater table and the peatland's surface) may be measured in dip wells (countersunk, perforated PVC pipes, cf. Brooks & Stoneman 1997a, Bragg et al. 1994). Measurements of water level changes should be carried out regularly to assess their whole spectrum (e.g. due to weather changes, either with data loggers or at least once every week or fortnight).

To detect hydrological interrelationships between the peatland and its surroundings information on various hydrological processes have to be gathered (Fig. 15).



Fig. 15: Hydrological processes in a fen and its catchment (from Davidsson et al. 2000)

Geological maps, satellite or aerial images may offer useful information. Water flow dynamics (e.g. groundwater flow patterns) within the peatland depend on both the hydraulic conductivity as well as on hydraulic heads of different peat layers (Fig. 16).



Fig. 16: Piezometer nests along a transect (from Davidsson et al. 2000)

The *hydraulic conductivity* or *transmissivity* is mainly determined by pore size, but also by pore shape and the connection between the pores and is a function of peat type, peat texture, and degree of peat decomposition (Ivanov 1981, Boelter 1965, Rizutti et al. 2004). Van der Schaaf (1999) describes different (field) piezometer-methods (e.g. rising or falling head method, pit bailing method) to measure and calculate hydraulic conductivities.

The *hydraulic head* (the distance between the potential water table (piezometric water level) in a certain depth and the peatlands surface) can be measured by piezometers (PVC pipes with a perforated filter in a defined depth, cf. Van der Schaaf 1999, Davidsson et al. 2000). This method enables to assess different water heads in different depths and with that the direction of groundwater movement. A higher hydraulic head in higher peat levels indicates water infiltration whereas a higher hydraulic head in the deeper peat layers points at an upward movement of water.

The trapping and transformation of nutrients and pollutants are common aims of peatland restoration (Trepel et al. 2000). To evaluate the success of the restoration in this respect, mass balances have to be calculated. This may be achieved by determining the difference in concentration and volume of the water flowing in and out the peatland (cf. Davidsson et al. 2000).

In case of low hydraulic conductivity of the peat (highly decomposed and compressed) and the underlying or surrounding mineral soil (e.g. clay), groundwater inflow or outflow is probably insignificant and can be neglected. Sandy soils, however, are more permeable and water contribution from and to the groundwater should be monitored. The collection of water for analysis can be done in groundwater tubes (e.g. piezometers) that are brought down to the depth in question. In peatlands with surface flow, water should be sampled from all relevant in- and outlets (incl. precipitation, measured by rain gauges).

In every case a comprehensive sampling plan should be designed to cover all significant inand outflows at relevant times (e.g. the major part of the annual transport of material might happen after precipitation events).

Further reading: Chason & Siegel (1986), Devito et al. (1997), Dietrich et al. (2001b), Eades et al. (2003), Edom (2001), Edom et al. (2007), Fraser et al. (2001), Grootjans et al. (2006), Hayward & Clymo (1982), Hemond & Goldman (1985), Ingram et al. (1974, 1985), Ingram

(1983, 1992), Price et al. (2003), Reeve et al. (2000), Romanov (1968), Rycroft et al. (1975), Scottish Wildlife Trust & English Nature (1995), Trepel et al. (1999), Trepel & Kluge (2003), Wheeler & Shaw (1995b) and Zinke & Edom (2006).

Pac	Packing list for monitoring field trip		
•	Recording sheets and inkstand		Folding rule to measure vegetation
•	Permanent markers		height
•	Topographic map		Literature for determining species
•	Aerial photographs (at suitable scale,		Handlense
	preferably colour)		Paper bags for plant sampling
•	GPS or compass		• Knife for plant and soil sampling
•	Tape measure to delineate boundaries		Plastic bags for soil sampling
•	Poles to mark permanent plots (4 per		• Field pH meter
	plot)		Field conductivity meter
•	Magnets for marking permanent plots		• Weatherproof clothes (rubber boots)
•	Camera	I	

Checklist for restoration projects:

- 1. Define the problem and acquire general understanding.
- 2. Collect sufficient baseline data to identify problems and to estimate success chances.
- 3. Use the support of qualified technical experts, agencies, and organizations for planning
- 4. Identify goals and objectives.
- 5. Focus on the restoration of a possibly self-sustaining ecosystem.
- 6. Clarify budget issues.
- 7. Clarify legal requirements on local, regional, national and international level.
- 8. Identify and engage private or official stake holders.
- 9. Enable public participation.
- 10. Consider possible risks and uncertainties.
- 11. Establish consensus about the projects mission.
- 12. Identify measurable indicators to verify the project performance.
- 13. Design monitoring and management plans.
- 14. Test critical procedures in small scale experiments to minimize risks of failure.
- 15. Realize the operational availability of the site.
- 16. Organize trained supervision of work.
- 17. Employ well trained operator and workers.
- 18. Implement restoration measures.
- 19. Follow safety regulations.
- 20. Stick to time scale.
- 21. Check if expected objectives can be achieved.
- 22. Correct emerging problems.
- 23. Modify unattainable objectives
- 24. Document intermediate project stages.
- 25. Check adequacy of the monitoring program.
- 26. Investigate the extent to which project goals and objectives are achieved.
- 27. Consider if critical peatland components and functions have been restored.
- 28. Analyse ecological, economic, and social benefits realized by the project.
- 29. Identify future management and maintenance requirements.
- 30. Organise management and maintenance.
- 31. Share learned lessons with interested parties on:
 - duration of each project phase and the total project,
 - costs and cost-effectiveness of each project phase,
 - total costs of the project.

4 Standard management approaches

Peatlands are complex systems because they

- consist of sophisticated interrelations of vegetation, water and peat,
- provide a wide variety of products and services, and
- can be damaged by a large variety of actions.

Experience has shown that peatland restoration projects that depart from too simplistic approach often fail. A useful instrument to identify necessary restoration steps is the ecosystem model of Van Wirdum:



It illustrates that all relations of ecosystems and their surroundings that can be brought down to

1. input-relations, when the system itself acts as a sink (for another source)

2. output-relations, when the system itself acts as a source (for another sink),

and are ruled by two limits of tolerance:

A. the limit of **minimally required**

B. the limit of **maximally tolerable**.

A peatland may thus suffer from four fundamentally different types of degradation:

1.A. Underfeeding: The system has too little input of something.

2.A. Stoppage (constipation, blocking): The system has too little output of something.

1.B. Overfeeding (pollution, poisoning): The system has too much input of something.

2.B. Loss (deprivation): The system has too much output of something.

Against these four types of degradation, four types of restoration measures have to be applied:

I. Supply: measures against underfeeding ("getting in").

II. Disposal: measures against stoppage ("getting out").

III. Resistance: measures against overfeeding ("keeping out").

IV. Retention: measures against loss ("keeping in").

Resistance and retention are defensive measures: they fail when the maximally allowed levels are exceeded. Supply and disposal are offensive measures: they fail when the minimally required levels are not reached.

In this chapter we use these basic types of measures to organize the multitude of measures in restoration practice. We elaborate these relations for the different landscape components with respect to the three major aims of peatland restoration:

- the restoration of peatland biodiversity,
- the restoration of peatland hydrological functions, and
- the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from peatlands.

4.1 The restoration of peatland biodiversity

Degradation usually affects the typical biodiversity of peatlands. Peat extraction, fire or erosion may even lead to bare peat surfaces. When left on their own, such areas (eventually) re-vegetate (from the seed bank and incoming diaspores), but often the focal mire species do not re-establish. They require the restoration/regeneration of adequate habitat conditions by removing the negative impact of humans, animals (e.g. overgrazing), noxious substances, fire and erosion (Table 9).

	What	Why	How
		Support remaining populations or individuals of	Improving habitat conditions
Keep in	Species	priority species by:	Reducing human impact
	Species		Reducing impacts of herbivores or predators
		Prevent water losses from focal site to provide	Maintaining catchment water table
	Water	adequate water levels for focal species by:	Raising catchment water table
			Increasing water level on site
			Decreasing evapotranspiration
		Maintain remaining peat as habitat and substrate of	Keeping up permafrost
	Peat	focal species by:	Reducing aerobic decomposition
			Reducing erosion
	Management	Support remaining populations or individuals of priority species by:	Continuing traditional management
	Damaga	Reduce damaging impacts of humans and animals to	Reducing human impact
	Damage	focal species by:	Reducing impacts of animals
out	Water	Prevent too high water levels (harmful to focal species) by:	Reducing water surplus
eep	Noxious	Reduce input of unwanted substances (incl.	Providing water of desired quality
K	substances	sediments) that may harm focal species by:	Reducing erosion
	Fire	Prevent damage to focal species and peat losses due to fire by:	Preventing (expansion of) fire
	Species	Introduce individuals of focal species (incl. nursing species) by:	Introducing focal species
		Encourage reproduction of focal species by:	Improving habitat conditions
			Suppressing unwanted species
in	Water	Bring in enough water to provide adequate water levels to support focal species by:	Raising catchment water table
Jet			Increasing water level on site
0		Supply water of desired quality to re-establish and support focal species by:	Providing water of desired quality
			Raising catchment water table
	Peat	Re-establish peat accumulating species by:	Improving habitat conditions
			Introducing keystone species
	Biomass / litter	Improve habitat conditions of focal species (creating	Improving habitat conditions
		germination niches) by:	Reducing unwanted substances
t	Species	Reduce non-focal species that cause harm to focal species by:	Suppressing non-focal species
Get out			Improving habitat conditions
	Water	Draw off water surplus to establish adequate water levels for focal species by:	Reducing water surplus
	Noxious	Dispose noxious substances (poisons, nutrients) by:	Improving habitat conditions
	substances		Reducing noxious substances

Table 9: Measures to restore biodiversity in peatlands

On the other hand, various semi-natural plant and animal communities depend on traditional human management that maintains favourable growing conditions by reducing or providing nutrients, by suppressing non-focal species, by rejuvenating focal species and by introducing fresh genetic material. If the re-establishment of traditional management (grazing, scything and burning) is impossible, modern techniques with similar effects (mowing, mulching) have to be installed

From the example of 'grazing' it becomes clear that the same activity can be both harmful and beneficial, depending on aims, circumstances, densities and frequencies. Therefore it is necessary to evaluate the effects of methods before they are established.

In the following we specify and explain the major measures listed under the *How*-column in Table 8. The measures refer to the reference list at the end of this chapter.

4.1.1 Improve habitat conditions by:

- *1. Regulating nutrient availability*
- a) Reduce nutrients by mowing and removing of biomass from the site. The action should take place during times of high production (before the starting of decay). see: 1 12
- b) Increase nutrient reduction by harvesting biomass of nutrient consuming species. see: 1, 12
- c) Reduce nutrients by preventing influx of eutrophic water. see: 4, 9, 14, 16
- d) Increase nutrient availability by spreading natural or artificial fertilisers. see: 1, 9, 12, 15, 17 25
- 2. Regulating base saturation
- a) Increase base saturation by spreading lime and preventing influx of acidic water. see: 1, 3, 12, 20, 25
- b) Reduce base saturation by preventing influx of geogenous (hard) water to increase influence of precipitation water. see: 3, 26
- 3. Creating niches
- a) Suppress non-focal species (e.g. fast growing, light consuming plants) by the use of selective herbicides (spraying, painting cut stumps) and pesticides (spraying, spooning baits), by mechanical damage (grazing, mowing, burning, pulling, ring barking, sawing or cutting down, knocking off, verticuting, drowning) and by reduction in numbers (supporting or introducing of predators, chasing, catching, trapping, hunting, poisoning).

see: 1, 5, 9, 11, 12, 14, 27 – 58, 131, 137

- b) Create small pools (e.g. by digging, bunding or blasting holes) in the peat surface. see: 3, 27, 28, 59 64
- c) Stimulate settlement of focal species by putting up artificial nesting or breeding sites. see: 3, 28, 30
- d) Provide adequate shelter to focal species by establishing nursing species. see: 12, 22, 24, 49, 53, 62, 63, 65 71
- 4. Refreshing genetic material
- a) Allow natural migration of focal species (reaching and leaving the site) by establishing habitat connections and enriching ecological infrastructure (ditches, dry-stone walls, hedges, shrubs, grass strips, streams). see: 31

b) Introduce fresh genetic material by introducing or exchanging individuals of focal species.

see: 31, 21, 24

- 5. Reducing negative impacts caused by:
 - Humans (*see 4.1.3*)
 - Animals (*see 4.1.4*)
 - Unwanted substances (*see 4.3.5*)
 - Fire (*see 4.3.7*)
 - Erosion (*see 4.3.4*)

4.1.2 Introduce target species by:

- Supporting natural immigration
 Allow natural immigration of diaspores via wind and water by establishing habitat connections or habitat connecting processes (e.g. flooding).
 see: 9, 72 77
- 2. Connect habitats by grazing

Enable diaspore transport via animals by grazing of species relevant habitats and the focal site at time of seed ripeness.

see: 138, 139

3. Connect habitats by cultivating

Enable diaspore transport via machines by cultivating (e.g. mowing) of species relevant habitats and the focal site at time of seed ripeness. see: 12, 47

4. Spreading mown material

Introduce diaspores and plant fragments by spreading of mown material from focal species habitats (antropochorie). Mow at time of seed ripeness and prevent damage on receptor site by spreading material during appropriate periods (with dry or frozen ground). Spread mown material in adequate density and provide appropriate shelter (e.g. spread straw mulch on *Sphagnum* fragments). see: 5, 9, 10, 12, 18, 19, 22, 36, 51, 62, 63, 66, 74, 78, 79, 137

5. Spreading seeds

Introduce previously collected seeds of focal species (e.g. by hydroseeding). see: 1, 5, 10, 21, 22, 31, 36, 72, 74, 80, 131, 132

6. Planting

Plant pre-grown seedlings, saplings, shoots or adult plants in adequate density at adequate time.

see: 3, 5, 10, 20, 22, 24, 27, 61, 72, 81 – 83

7. Transplanting sods

Enable diaspore transport via soil by collecting sods from habitats of focal species and spread them in adequate density. see: 10, 21, 22

4.1.3 Reduce human impact by:

- 1. Providing access to less vulnerable areas during less vulnerable periods
- a) Encourage access by offering attractions (paths, boardwalks, shelter, maps, signs, observation platforms, guided tours). see: 3, 27 30, 36, 84, 86, 121
- *b*) Encourage access by targeted education. see: 27, 29, 30, 84, 86
- 2. Regulating access by zoning see: 2, 3, 17, 87 89
- 3. Reducing access to vulnerable areas during vulnerable periods
- a) Prevent access by regulations (prohibits, signs, fines, guards) or obstructions (ditches, shrubs, fallen tress, swampy ground, wild animals, fences, gates). see: 17, 84, 86, 89 92
- b) Regulate access by targeted education. see: 81, 83, 86

4.1.4 Reduce impact of animals by:

- 1. Providing access to less vulnerable areas Draw attention to selected areas by establishing feeding and drinking places or shelter and hiding places. see: 28, 93
- 2. *Preventing access to vulnerable places* Impede access by establishing obstructions (ditches, swampy ground, fences, gates). see: 3, 17, 56, 93
- *3. Reducing numbers* Reduce numbers of animals by hunting, chasing, trapping or poisoning. see: 12, 17, 43, 93

4.2 Restoration to improve peatland hydrology

The success of any restoration project depends on the durable re-instalment of appropriate site conditions. There is no universal strategy to restore drained peatlands as conditions differ widely depending on climate, water and peat chemistry as well as on topography. It is, however, possible to define general principles for the solution of similar problems. The main focus of restoration of hydrological conditions lies on rewetting, i.e. raising the level of permanent water saturation and reducing the amplitude of water level fluctuations by reducing water losses (incl. extraction, surface runoff, sub-surface seepage and evapotranspiration) from the site and from the adjoining catchment. The main challenge is to store enough water during periods of water surplus to prevent drought during periods of water shortage.

4.2.1 Elevate water level on site by:

- 1. Managing existing drainage systems
- a) Reduce water losses by increasing water back up heights of sluices and weirs. see: 27, 1, 28, 3, 61, 11, 55
- b) Remove subsurface drainage pipes by excavation or destruction. see: 1, 11, 55, 61, 94, 95
- 2. Increasing natural rewetting
- a) Slow down water flow by introducing beavers into appropriate habitats. see: 96, 97
- b) Slow down water flow off by introducing trees, rocks and other natural obstructions into streams.
 see: 3, 11, 61

see: 3, 11, 61

3. Damming of ditches

Dams should be constructed of adequate materials (considering availability, costs, loading capacities, and life time). The use of natural materials (wooden trunks or planks, wood chips, peat and mineral soil) contributes to limiting costs for transport and purchase (and keeps the artificiality of the measure low). The use of artificial materials (concrete, plastic or metal sheets) may be required in selected cases.

In case of highly permeable peat, dams should be erected in trenches that reach into low permeable subsoil or less permeable peat layers.

Determine possible maximum loads of accumulating water (e.g. after heavy rain or snow melting events) and erect structures stable enough to prevent failure. Consider safety regulations, take professional advice for design, and ensure regular inspections and necessary management to prevent the collapsing of dam constructions.

Identify appropriate times to enable uncomplicated access and construction (e.g. during times of low water level or frost) to reduce damage to the site and costs of the project.

Implement phased inundations to enable initial establishment of vegetation. see: 3, 10,11, 27, 29, 36, 40, 59, 61, 64, 84, 98 – 109, 134, 135, 136^

	What	Why	How
	a .	Promote focal species (e.g. Sphagnum to restore	Improving habitat conditions
eep in	Species	acrotelm) by:	Suppressing non-focal species
	Water	Prevent water losses to guarantee stable base flow	Reducing evapotranspiration
	water	into downstream ecosystems by:	Increasing water level on site
	Watar	Prevent water losses to limit water pollution (due to mineralization) by:	Reducing evapotranspiration
	water		Reducing water surplus
X		Reduce peat mineralization to guarantee stable base	Increasing water level on site
	Deat	flow of desired quality by:	Reducing evapotranspiration
	I cal		Raising catchment water table
			Reducing erosion
		Reduce peat compression or destruction of vegetation	Reducing human impact
	Damage	cover by:	Reducing impacts of herbivores
			or predators
	Water	Reduce input of too much water to enable peat formation by:	Providing water of desired
ţ		Reduce input of unwanted water to restore desired	Increasing water level on site
no	Water	water conditions by:	increasing water level on site
ep	Peat	Restrict peat extraction by:	Legislation and licensing
Ke	extraction	1 7	5 5
	Fire	Prevent peat losses (due to fire) that affect the peatlands hydrology by:	Preventing (expansion of) fire
		Reduce input of substances (lime and nutrients that	Providing water of desired
	Noxious substances	support peat mineralization, sediments and poisons	quality
		that negatively affect water quality) by:	
	Species	Establish peat forming vegetation to restore the site's water filtering capacity by:	Introducing focal species
			Improving habitat conditions
	TT 7 4	Increase water supply to limit water pollution (due to	Raising catchment water table
E.	Water	peat mineralization) by:	
etj		Increase input of water to restore desired	Providing water of desired
5	Water	hydrological conditions by:	quality
			Increasing water level on site
	Peat	Restore peat formation to enable sequestration of	Introducing focal species
		nutrents and other unwanted substances by:	Improving habitat conditions
ut	Noxious	Reduce unwanted substances to guarantee desired	Reducing unwanted substances
Get or	substances	water quanty by:	
	Water	Draw off water surplus to enable peat formation by:	Reducing water surplus

Table 10: Measures to restore peatland hydrological functions

4. Complete infilling of ditches

Reduce water losses by complete infilling of ditches. Highly decomposed peat may be used because of its sealing properties and because it supports further stabilisation through vegetation. This is a cost effective measure as the material can be collected from the site. The extraction of peat may require permission from (national) mining legislation. Consider appropriate areas for peat extraction to keep additional damage low.

If adequate amounts or qualities of peat are not available, other materials may be used. The use of woodchips that emerge from tree or brush cutting activities has shown positive results. It facilitates waste disposal but requires adequate compression. see: 11, 27, 55, 61, 106, 107, 110, 111, 134

5. Bund walling

Reduce water losses and increase water storage by sealing marginal areas with bunds, made of low permeable peat or other water impermeable materials like clay or plastic.

Because "bunding" raises the water level above its previous position; it has to be carefully planned, well done and regularly maintained.

Professional advice for design and construction is required. This is cost intensive but necessary to come up to safety requirements.

Water discharge appliances have to be integrated to enable outflow of water during and after periods of high rainfall.

Paddy field-like cascades of bunds are necessary for rewetting sloping peatlands.

Realise phased inundations to enable initial establishment of vegetation.

see: 1, 3, 10, 27, 29, 36, 63, 64, 84, 95, 98, 99, 103, 105, 107, 110

6. Establishing water reservoirs

Produce hollows to store surplus water during wet periods by decreasing the elevation of the peat surface. This may be achieved by excavating or pushing off peat. Such hollows may also act as growth pools of desired mire species and support the soaking of surrounding areas during periods of drought. This method is technically less complicated and more stable than damming or bunding as it does not raise the water level above its previous position, but it might require a licence from (national) mining law. In some cases upstanding areas might be levelled down to the water level to prevent accidental collapsing and to reduce mineralisation. Consider appropriate areas for the deposition of excavated peat to minimise additional damage.

Flooding should be deep enough to store enough water for dry periods. Too deep water hampers vegetation establishment.

Hollows and bunded areas should not be too large to minimise wind and wave erosion. see: 1, 3, 10, 59, 61, 64, 98, 103, 107, 110

7. Introducing surplus water

Irrigation by pumping, flooding or diverting of water into the site is very expensive and therefore only possible in small areas of particular interest (small peat remnants or archaeological artefacts) or to kick start initial development.

Attention should be paid to the quality of introduced water. If restoration aims at establishing nutrient poor conditions, eutrophic water should not be used for rewetting. Water which is rich in sulphates (e.g. river water) should be avoided, as it aggravates peat mineralization and induces internal eutrophication. see: 1, 3, 27, 84, 98, 112

500. 1, 5, 27, 64, 96, 112

8. Improving water discharge

Re-enable infiltration of ground and precipitation water by perforating stagnating (strongly humified and compressed) surficial peat soil horizons. see: 11

9. Reducing evapotranspiration (see 4.2.2)

10. Raising catchment water table (see 4.2.3)

4.2.2 Reduce evapotranspiration by:

- 1. Removing trees
- a) Eliminate (part of the) trees from priority sites (e.g. central areas) by cutting or chopping down by hand or by machinery. Ring barking and chemical spraying is an easy method to treat standing trees. Pay attention to safety requirements and plan the treatment of resulting waste.

see: 41, 61, 64, 111, 135

- b) Complete removal of cut down waste is desirable (to prevent shading out of low growing species) but very expensive as it requires extra work (and machinery) and careful planning to prevent additional damage.
 see: 27
- c) Possibilities for less expensive on-site disposal of waste include burning or chipping of wood.

To burn the wood special safety measures are necessary to prevent accidental spreading of fire and damage to existing vegetation.

If the site is wet enough chipped wood might be left on site as it will soon be covered by vegetation. Woodchips might also be used to reduce water losses from drains and ditches.

see: 27

- d) In some cases special after treatment (e.g. repeated cutting, weed wiping or painting of stumps) is necessary to prevent re-sprouting of cut down trees.
 see: 27, 113 115
- **2.** *Planting less evaporating species* Replace strong evaporating trees by less evaporating trees on the site or in the site's surrounding.
- *3. Improving micro climate* Provide wind shelter by planting trees at marginal areas. see: 132, 133

4.2.3 Raise catchment water table by:

- Decreasing groundwater extraction Reduce the intensity of water extraction by limiting the use of water for irrigation and drinking water supply. see: 26
- 2. Increasing infiltration
- a) Change forest composition in adjoining catchment areas.
- b) Reduce drainage for agricultural use of adjoining areas.
- c) Remove surface sealing.
- 3. Slowing down surface run off
- a) Reduce drainage.
- b) Replant catchment area.
- Increasing rainfall
 Use aerosols (silver iodide or dry ice) to intercept clouds.
 see: 116 118, 140, 141
- 5. Establishing hydrological buffer zones see: 10, 16, 107, 119

4.2.4 Reduce water surplus by:

- 1. Building more dams upstream to slow down water supply.
- 2. Re-routing incoming water away from focal site.
- 3. Draining off surficial water by ditches or pumping.
- 4. Planting of water consuming species to increase evapotranspiration.

4.2.5 Provide water of desired quality by:

- Reducing impacts on water sources in adjoining areas Prevent water pollution by agricultural activities (fertilizing, liming, pest control) or by industrial or communal waste and waste water. see: 6
- 2. *Filtering water* Reduce unwanted substances in incoming water by establishing sediment traps and filters.
- *3. Preventing influx of polluted water* Keep water of undesired quality away from focal site by re-routing. see: 13
- *4. Supporting groundwater discharge*
- a) Drain rainwater lenses. see: 15, 120
- b) Perforate stagnating surficial peat soil horizons. see: 121
- c) Remove stagnating surficial peat soil horizons. see: 105
- 5. Reducing erosion (see 4.3.4)

4.3 Peatland restoration to reduce greenhouse gas emissions

The degradation of peatlands is a major and growing source of anthropogenic greenhouse gas emissions. Carbon dioxide emissions from peatland drainage, fires and exploitation are estimated to currently be equivalent to at least 3,000 million tonnes per annum or equivalent to more than 10% of the global fossil fuel emissions. Peatland restoration for reducing greenhouse gas emissions is seen as a very cost-effective measure for long term climate change mitigation and adaptation (Parish et al. 2007). Optimising water management in peatlands (i.e. reducing drainage) is the single highest priority to combat CO_2 emissions from peat oxidation and peatland fires (Parish et al. 2007).

	What	Why	How
Keep in		Prevent losses due to damaging activities (incl.	Reducing human impact
	Biomass	harvesting and fire) to maintain <i>short term</i> carbon storage by:	Reducing impacts of herbivores
		Prevent too low water levels to limit carbon	Reducing evapotranspiration
	Water	dioxide (CO_2) emissions or to increase carbon	Increasing water level on site
		storage by:	Raising catchment water table
		Prevent CO ₂ emissions due to aerobic	Increasing water level on site
	Peat	decomposition by:	Reducing aerobic decomposition
		Prevent CO ₂ emissions due to peat erosion by:	Reducing erosion
	N ₂ O	Increase chemical reduction of nitrous oxide (N_2O) to dinitrogen (N_2) by:	Increasing water level on site
		Reduce damage to biomass (incl. harvesting) to	Preventing (expansion of) fire
	Damage	maintain <i>short term</i> carbon storage by:	Reducing human impact
			Reducing impacts of animals
eep out	Water	Reduce input of water of undesired quality to prevent emission of CO_2 by:	Providing water of desired quality
	Water	Reduce input of too much water to enable carbon sequestration (peat formation) by:	Reducing water surplus
K	Peat extraction	Prevent peat losses due to peat extraction by:	Legislation and licensing
	Fire	Prevent CO ₂ emissions due to fire by:	Preventing (expansion of) fire
	Noxious	Reduce input of mineralization enhancing	Reducing erosion
	substances	wind or water) by:	Reducing unwanted substances
	Biomass	Increase accumulation (esp. carbon storing trees, reeds and mosses) to enhance <i>short term</i> carbon storage by:	Introducing focal species
			Improving habitat conditions
	Water	Restore appropriate water levels to reduce peat	Increasing water level on site
		mineralization by:	Raising catchment water table
in			Reducing evapotranspiration
Get	Peat	Restore peat formation to enable <i>long term</i> carbon sequestration by:	Improving habitat conditions
			Introducing focal species
			Raising catchment water table
			Reducing evapotranspiration
			Increasing water level on site
			Reducing water surplus
Get out	Species	Eradicate unwanted (e.g. aerenchymatic) species to reduce methane emissions by:	Suppressing non-focal species
	Water	Prevent too high water levels that hamper peat accumulation and enhance CH_4 production by:	Reducing water surplus
	Noxious substances	Restore adequate levels of fertility (reduce too much nutrients and poisons) to slow down peat mineralization and to support peat forming species by:	Reducing unwanted substances

Fable 11: Measures to restore	peatlands to reduce	their climate impact
--------------------------------------	---------------------	----------------------

4.3.1 Re-activate peat formation by:

- *1. Reducing aerobic decomposition*
- a) Elevate water levels (see 4.2.1).
- b) Reduce evapotranspiration (see 4.2.2).
- c) Raise catchment water table (see 4.2.3).
- d) Raise water table indirectly by removing degraded surface layers. see: 10, 95, 105, 122 124
- e) Eradicate deep rooting plants to reduce oxygen penetration of peat.
- **2.** Supporting existing peat forming vegetation Improve habitat conditions (see 4.1.1).
- 3. *Re-introducing peat forming species* Introduce focal species (see 4.1.3).

4.3.2 Reduce erosion by:

- 1. Reducing damage to vegetation and peat surface
- a) Reduce human impact (on-site and in uplands) (see 4.1.3).
- b) Reduce impact of herbivores (on-site and in uplands) (see 4.1.4).
- c) Prevent preferential flow paths
- **2.** *Stabilizing bare peat surfaces*
- a) Re-vegetate bare areas by introducing focal species (see 4.1.2).
- b) Cover loose and bare areas with adequate material (e.g. geo-jute sheets, nets). see: 125, 126
- **3.** *Improving catchment hydrology* Provide stable base flow without draught and flood events by raising the catchment water table (see 4.4.3).
- **4.** *Keeping permafrost* Re-establish insulating vegetation (see 4.1.1. and 4.1.2).

4.3.3 Reducing noxious substances by:

- 1. Harvesting and removing biomass
- a) Re-establish grazing regime to remove biomass. see: 5, 7, 8, 11, 13, 61,127, 128
- b) Establish effective nutrient consuming species to harvest and remove biomass. see: 11
- 2. Stimulating chemical precipitation Introduce Fe, Ca, NO₃ to precipitate phosphates. see: 61
- 3. Removing degraded surface layers Cut sods of degraded (polluted, enriched) surface layers. see: 5, 6, 11, 13, 15, 61, 120

4.3.4 Prevent (expansion of) fire by:

- 1. *Limiting access in fire-sensitive periods and to fire sensitive areas* Reduce human impact (see 4.1.3)
- 2. *Providing (fire) safety maps* Locate access routes, unstable ground and water reservoirs. see: 3, 129, 130
- *3. Establishing fire patrolling system* Engage patrol from ground, watchtowers and air. see: 129, 130
- 4. Establishing fire breaks
- a) Create water filled ditches, trenches. see: 129, 130
- b) Mow or cut aisles into existing vegetation. see: 10, 84, 129, 130
- 5. Providing water for fire fighting
- a) Fill existing depressions with water by damming.
- b) Excavate water storing holes. see: 130
- 6. Rewetting peat surface
- a) Elevate water level on site (see 4.2.1)
- b) Raise catchment water table (see 4.2.3)
- 7. Assessing fire risk Develop fire risk models. see: 31, 129, 130

References of standard management approaches

1. Treweek et al. (1997) 2. Schopp-Guth (1999) 3. Eades et al. (2003) 4. Oomes & Kemmers (2001) 5. Pfadenhauer et al. (2001) 6. Grootjans & Diggelen (1995) 7. Bakker & Olff (1995) 8. Moen (1995) 9. Pfadenhauer (1994) 10. Wheeler & Shaw (1995) 11. Wagner & Wagner (2003) 12. Crofts & Jefferson (1999) 13. Koerselman & Verhoeven (1995) 14. van Wirdum (1995) 15. Van der Hoek & Braakhekke (1998) 16. Trepel & Kluge (2003) 17. Stadler (2002) 18. Money (1995) 19. Rochefort et al. (1995) 20. Richards et al. (1995) 21. Merrilees et al. (1995) 22. Sliva et al. (1997) 23. Tallowin et al. (1998) 24. Sliva (1997) 25. Gaudig (2001) 26. Grootjans & Duren (2001) 27. Brooks & Stoneman (1997) 28. Brooks & Agate (2004) 29. Foss & O'Connell (1998) 30. Hertzman & Larsson (1999) 31. Anderson et al. (1995) 32. Miller et al. (1984) 33. Egloff (2002) 34. Bressoud et al. (2002) 35. Wyl et al. (2002) 36. Eigner & Schmatzler (1991) 37. Wheeler & Shaw (1995) 38. Foster & Procter (1995) 39. Bölscher (1995) 40. Burlton (1997) 41. Brooks & Stoneman (1997) 42. Müller & Görschen (1986) 43. Hulme & Birnie (1997) 44. Shaw et al. (1997) 45. Reeves & Champion (2004) 46. Vesk & Westoby (2001) 47. Vanderpoorten et al. (2004) 48. Hayward & Clymo (1983) 49. Farrell & Doyle (2003)

50. Faubert & Rochefort (2002) 51. Gorham & Rochefort (2003) 52. Mc Ininch et al. (2007) 53. Rochefort (2000) 54. Tomassen (2004) 55. Siuda (2002) 56. Anderson & Radford (1994) 57. Imeson (1971) 58. Cummins & Farrell (2003) 59. NWT (2003) 60. Wildermuth (2002) 61. LUA (2004) 62. Rochefort & Campeau (1997) 63. Wheeler et al. (2003) 64. Lindsay (2003) 65. Rochefort & Bastien (1998) 66. Quinty (2003) 67. Burgeff (1961) 68. Grosvernier et al. (1995) 69. Boudreau & Rochefort (1998) 70. Joosten (1992) 71. Wang et al. (2006) 72. Roth et al. (2001) 73. Galatowitsch & Van der Valk (1995) 74. Poschlod (1995) 75. Donath (2005) 76. Hölzel (2003) 77. Campbell et al. (2002) 78. Brock & Britton (1995) 79. Maas & Schopp-Guth (1995) 80. Dorner (2006) 81. Wibisono et al. (2005) 82. Nuyim (2005) 83. Giesen (2004) 84. Coles (1995) 85. Stadler (2002) 86. Meier (2002) 87. Broggi et al. (2002) 88. Staub (2002) 89. Suter (2002) 90. Stadler (2002) 91. Fisch (2002) 92. Whinam & Chilcott (1999) 93. Wyl et al. (2002) 94. Meade (2003) 95. Ross & Cowan (2003) 96. Rosell et al. (2005) 97. Bialy & Zaluski (1994) 98. Bull (2003)

99. Daniels (2003) 100. Hope et al. (2005) 101. Mawby (2003) 102. Suryadiputra et al. (2005) 103. Eggelsmann & Blankenburg (1989) 104. Akkermann (1982) 105. Nick et al. (2001) 106. Dietrich et al. (2001) 107. Schouwenaars (1995) 108. Evans et al. (2005) 109. Staubli (2004) 110. Nick et al. (1993) 111. Heikkilä & Lindholm (1995) 112. Heathwaite (1995) 113. Arbeitsgruppe für Forstwirtschaft und Moorschutz (2002) 114. Berchten (2002) 115. Berchten (2002) 116. Cotton (2006) 117. Stauffer & Williams (2000) 118. Givati & Rosenfeld (2005)

119. Poelman & Joosten (1992) 120. Beltman et al. (1995) 121. Koska & Stegmann (2001) 122. Bragg (1989) 123. Wheeler et al. (1995) 124. Bragg (1995) 125. Hope & Whinam (2004) 126. Campbell et al. (2002) 127. Kapfer (1988) 128. Koppisch et al. (2001) 129. Adinugroho et al. (2005) 130. Adinugroho et al. (2005) 131. Goldammer et al. (1997) 132. Edom (1999) 133. Edom (2001) 134. Staubli (2007) 135. Henkel (2007) 136. Haupt (2007) 137. Rochefort (2006) 138. Bonn & Poschlod(1998) 139. Poschlod & Bonn (1998)

140. http://water.utah.gov/cloudseeding/Default.asp

141. http://cloudseeding.dri.edu/Program/Program.html

References

- Adinugroho, C. W., Suryadiputra, I. N. N., Saharjo, B. H. and Siboro, L. (2005a): Manual for the control of fire in peatlands and peatland forest, In: Climate Change, F. a. P. i. I. P.: Wetlands International - Indonesia Programme and Wildlife Habitat Canada, Bogor, 162 pp.
- Adinugroho, C. W., Suryadiputra, I. N. N., Saharjo, B. H. and Siboro, L. (2005b): Panduan pengendalian kebakaran hutan dan lahan gambut, Proyek Climate Change, Forests and Peatlands in Indonesia. Wetlands International - Indonesia Programme dan Wildlife Habitat. Canada. Bogor. Indonesia, 262 pp.
- Akkermann, R. (1982): Regeneration von Hochmooren Zielsetzung, Möglichkeiten, Erfahrungen, *Berichte des Moor-Symposiums 9.-11.7.1980 in Vechta*, 334 pp.
- Anderson, P. & Radford, E. (1994): Changes in vegetation following reduction in grazing pressure on the National Trust's Kinder Estate, Peak District, Derbyshire, England, *Biological Conservation*, No. 69, p. 55-63.
- Anderson, P., Tallis, J. H. and Yalden, D. W. (1995): Restoring moorland Peak District Moorland Management Project - Phase III Report, 153 pp.
- Arbeitsgruppe für Forstwirtschaft und Moorschutz (2002): Übersicht über die wichtigsten Konfliktpunkte zwischen Forstwirschaft und Moorschutz, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 4.1.1.
- Atkinson, I. A. E. (1985): Derivation of vegetation mapping units for an ecological survey of Tongariro National Park, North Island, New Zealand, New Zealand Journal of Botany, No 23, p. 361-378.
- Bakker, J. P. & Olff, H. (1995): Nutrient dynamics during restoration of fen meadows by haymaking without fertiliser application, In: Wheeler, B. D. & Shaw, S. C.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore, p. 143-166.
- Beltman, B., van den Broek, T. and Bloemen, S. (1995): Restoration of acidified rich-fen ecosystems in the Vechtplassen Area: Success and Failures, In: Wheeler, B. D. & Shaw, S. C.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore, p. 273-286.
- Berchten, F. (2002a): Holzbringung und Moorschutz Problematik und mögliche Lösungsansätze, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 4.1.2.
- **Berchten, F. (2002b):** Umsetzung des Moorlandschaftschutzes durch die Forstbehörden, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 4.1.3.
- Bialy, K. & Zaluski, T. (1994): The Role of the Beaver (Castor Fiber L.) in the regeneration of natural conditions in a regulated water course in a post-bog landscape in Plock Basin (Kotlina Plocka), In: Jankowska-Huflejt, H. & Golubiewska, E.: *Conservation and Management of Fens*, Proceedings of the International Symposium, International Peat Society, Warsaw Biebrza, p. 266-272.
- Bindlish, R., Jackson, J. T., Gasiewski, A. J., Klein, M. and Njoku, E. G. (2006): Soil moisture mapping and AMSR-E validation using the PSR in SMEX02, *Remote Sensing of Environment*, No 103, p. 127-139.
- Boelter, D. H. (1965): Hydraulic conductivity of peats, Soil science, No 100, p. 227-231.

- Boudreau, S. & Rochefort, L. (1998): Restoration of post-mined peatlands: Effect of vascular pioneer species on sphagnum establishment, In: Malterer, T., Johnson, K., and Steward, J.: *Peatland Restoration & Reclamation Techniques and Regulatory considerations*, Proceedings of the 1998 International Peat Symposium, Duluth, Minnesota USA, p. 39-43.
- **Bölscher, B.** (1995): Niche requirements of birds in raised bogs: Habitat attributes in relation to bog restoration, In: Wheeler, B. D. & Shaw, S. C.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore, p. 359-376.
- Bragg, O. M. (1989): The importance of water in mire ecosystems, *Research and Survey in Nature Conservation*, 24, In: Fojt, W. J. & Meade, R.: *Cut-over Lowland Raised Mires*, Nature Conservation Council, Peterborough, p. 61-82.
- Bragg, O. M. (1995): Towards an ecohydrological basis for raised mire restoration, In: Wheeler, B. D. & Shaw, S. C.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore, p. 305-314.
- Bragg, O. M., Hulme, P. D., Ingram, H. A. P., Johnston, J. P. and Wilson, A. I. A. (1994): A Maximum-Minimum Recorder for shallow water tables, developed for ecohydrological studies on mires, *Journal of Applied Ecology*, Vol. 31, No. 3, p. 589-592.
- Bressoud, B., Charlier, P. and Egloff, T. (2002): Bewirtschaftung und Pflege verschiedener Pflanzengesellschaften der Flachmoore, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 2.1.3.
- Brock, M. A. & Britton, D. L. (1995): The role of seedbanks in the revegetation of Australian temporary wetlands, In: Wheeler, B. D. & Shaw, S. C.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, Jaohn Wiley & Sons, Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore, p. 183-188.
- Broggi, M. F., Willi, G. and Staub, R. (2002): Skipisten, Loipen, Beschneiungsanlagen und Moorschutz, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 6.1.2.
- Brooks, A. & Agate, E. (2004): Waterways & Wetlands A Practical Handbook, BTCV, Conservation Centre, Doncaster, 169 pp.
- Brooks, S. & Stoneman, R. (1997a): Conserving Bogs The Management Handbook, The Stationery Office, Edinburgh, 286 pp.
- Brooks, S. & Stoneman, R. (1997b): Tree removal at Langlands Moss, In: Parkyn, L., Stoneman, R. E., and Ingram, H. A. P.: *Conserving Peatlands*, CAB International, Oxon U.K., New York USA, p. 315-322.
- **Budd, J. T. C. (1991):** Remote sensing techniques for monitoring land-cover, In: Goldsmith, F. B.: *Monitoring for Conservation and Ecology*, Routledge, Capman and Hall, New York, London, p. 33-60.
- Bull, K. (2003): The restoration of Thorne, Crowle and Goole Moors National Nature Reserve, In: Meade, R.: Proceedings of the Risley Moss Bog Restoration Workshop, 26-27 February 2003, English Nature, Peterborough, p. 56-59. <u>http://www.english-</u>nature.org.uk/pubs/publication/PDF/RisleyMossWkshp.pdf
- **Burgeff, H. (1961):** Mikrobiologie des Hochmoores mit besonderer Berücksichtigung der Ericaceen-Pilz Symbiose, Stuttgart,
- **Burlton, B. (1997):** The Border Mires Approach, In: Parkyn, L., Stoneman, R. E., and Ingram, H. A. P.: *Conserving Peatlands*, CAB International, Oxon U.K., New York USA, p. 271-279.
- **BUWAL** (2002a): Moorschutz in der Schweiz Fallbeispiele, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft (BUWAL), Bern,

http://www.bundespublikationen.admin.ch/de/publikationen/detailansicht.html?tx_ttproducts_pi1%5BbackPI D%5D=69&tx_ttproducts_pi1%5Bswords%5D=Moorschutz&tx_ttproducts_pi1%5Bproduct%5D=27576 **BUWAL (2002b):** Moorschutz in der Schweiz - Grundlagen, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft (BUWAL), Bern,

http://www.bundespublikationen.admin.ch/de/publikationen/detailansicht.html?tx_ttproducts_pi1%5BbackPI D%5D=69&tx_ttproducts_pi1%5Bswords%5D=Moorschutz&tx_ttproducts_pi1%5Bproduct%5D=27576

BUWAL & WSL (2002): Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft (BUWAL), Eidg. Forschungsanstalt für Wald, Schnee und Landschaft (WSL), Bern, 68 pp.

http://www.wsl.ch/land/inventory/mireprot/besmos/literatur/Moorschutz%20D.pdf

- Campbell, D., Lavoie, R. and Rochefort, L. (2002a): Wind erosion and surface stability in abandoned milled peatlands, *Canadian Journal of Soil Science*, 82, p. 85-95. <u>http://www.gret-perg.ulaval.ca/CAMPBELL_D_PhD.pdf</u>
- Campbell, D., Rochefort, L. and Lavoie, R. (2002b): Determining the immigration potential of plants colonizing disturbed environments - The case of milled peatlands, Québec, In: Campbell, D.: Comprendre la mécanique du processus de recolonisation végétale des tourbières exploitées, Departement de phytologie faculté des sciences de l'agriculture et de l'alimentation, Université Laval, Québec, Laval, p. 26-60. <u>http://www.gretperg.ulaval.ca/CAMPBELL_D_PhD.pdf</u>
- Chason, D. B. & Siegel, D. I. (1986): Hydraulic conductivity and related physical properties of peat, Lost River Peatland, Northern Minnesota, *Soil science*, No 142 / 2, p. 91-99.
- Clarkson, B. R., Sorrel, B. K., Reeves, P. N., Champion, P. D., Partridge, T. R. and Clarkson, B. D. (2004): Handbook for Monitoring Wetland Condition, Coordinated Monitoring of New Zealand Wetlands - A Ministry for the Environment Sustainable Management Fund Project (5105), 73 pp.

http://www.landcareresearch.co.nz/research/biocons/restoration/docs/handbook2004.pdf#search="handbook for monitoring wetland condition"

- Clymo, R. S. (1984): The limits to peat bog growth, *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London*, No 303, Series B, p. 605-654.
- **Coles, B. (1995):** Wetland Management A Survey for English Heritage, Short Run Press Ltd., Exeter, 126 pp.
- **Cotton, W. R. (2006):** Weather modification by cloud seeding-A status report 1989-1997, Colorado State University Deptartment of Atmospheric Science, Fort Collins, <u>http://rams.atmos.colostate.edu/gkss.html</u>
- Couwenberg, J. & Joosten, H. (1999): Pools as missing links: The role of nothing in the being of mires, In: Standen, V., Tallis, J. H., and Meade, R.: *Patterned Mires and Mire Pools Origin and Development; Flora and Fauna*, London, p. 87-102.
- **Couwenberg, J. & Joosten, H. (2005):** Self-Organization in raised bog patterning: The origin of microtope zonation and mesotope diversity, *Journal of Ecology*, No 93, p. 1238-1248.
- **Crofts, A. & Jefferson, R. G. (1999):** Lowland Grassland Management Handbook, English Nature/The Wildlife Trusts, <u>http://www.english-nature.org.uk/pubs/handbooks/upland.asp?id=5</u>
- Cummins, T. & Farrell, E. P. (2003): Biogeochemical impacts of clearfelling and reforestation on blanket-peatland streams II. Major ions and dissolved organic carbon, *Forest Ecology and Management*, No 180, p. 557-570.
- Daniels, J. L. (2003): Restoration management issues on fenns, Whixall and Bettisfield Mosses National Nature Reserve, In: Meade, R.: *Proceedings of the Risley Moss Bog Restoration Workshop*, 26-27 February 2003, English Nature, Peterborough, p. 53-55. <u>http://www.english-nature.org.uk/pubs/publication/PDF/RisleyMossWkshp.pdf</u>
- Davidsson, T., Kiehl, K. and Hoffmann, C. C. (2000): Guidelines for monitoring of wetland functioning, *EcoSys*, No 8, p. 5-50.
- Devito, K. J., Waddington, J. M. and Branfireun, B. A. (1997): Flow reversals in peatlands influenced by local groundwater systems, *Hydrological Processes*, No 11, p. 103-110.

- **Dietrich, O., Dannowski, R. and Hennings, H. H. (2001a):** Vernässsungsstrategien für verschiedene Vernässungsverhältnisse, In: Kratz, R. & Pfadenhauer, J.: *Ökosystemmanagement für Niedermoore - Strategien und Verfahren zur Renaturierung*,
- Ulmer, Stuttgart, p. 53-73.
 Dietrich, O., Quast, J., Blankenburg, J. and Heidt, P. (2001b): Hydrologische Gebietsanalysen zur Einschätzung der Vernässbarkeit, In: Kratz, R. & Pfadenhauer, J.: *Ökosystemmanagement für Niedermoore - Strategien und Verfahren zur Renaturierung*, Ulmer, Stuttgart, p. 35-52.
- **Donath, T. W. (2005):** Restoration of flood meadows The importance of seedbanks, dispersal, recruitment and agricultural management, *Dissertation Justus-Liebig-Universität Gießen*, 112 pp. <u>http://deposit.ddb.de/cgi-</u>

bin/dokserv?idn=976065495&dok var=d1&dok ext=pdf&filename=976065495.pdf

- **Dorner, J. (2006):** An introduction to using native plants in restoration projects, Center for Urban Horticulture, University of Washington, For: plant conservation alliance bureau of land management, US Department of Interior U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 66 pp. <u>http://www.nps.gov/plants/restore/pubs/intronatplant/intronatplant.pdf</u>
- **Dryden, R. (1997):** Habitat restoration project: Fact sheets and bibliographies, *English Nature Research Reports*, No 260, <u>http://www.english-</u> nature.org.uk/pubs/publication/Pub_Results.asp?PageNo=2&C=0&K=Restoration&I=&A=&k2=
- Eades, P., Bardsley, L., Giles, N. and Crofts, A. ed. (2003): Wetland restoration manual, The Wildlife Trust, Newark, 660 pp.
- Edom, F. (2001): Moorlandschaften aus hydrologischer Sicht (Chorische Betrachtung), In: Succow, M. & Joosten, H.: *Landschaftsökologische Moorkunde*, E. Schweizerbart´sche Verlagsbuchhandlung, Stuttgart, p. 185-228.
- Eggelsmann, R. & Blankenburg, J. (1989): Wiedervernässung zur Einleitung der Regeneration der Moorvegetation im "Leegmoor", 1983-1988, Niedersächsisches Landesamt für Bodenforschung, Bodentechnologisches Institut, Bremen, 72 pp.
- Egloff, T. (2002): Entbuschung von Flachmooren, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 2.1.5.
- Eigner, J. & Schmatzler, E. (1991): Handbuch des Hochmoorschutzes Bedeutung, Pflege und Entwicklung, *Naturschutz Aktuell, Nr.4*, 2., Kilda-Verlag, Greven, 158 pp.
- Ellenberg, H., Arndt, U., Bretthauer, R., Ruthsatz, B. and Steubing, L. (1991a): Biological monitoring - Signals from the environment, Gate Publication - Vieweg, Braunschweig,
- Ellenberg, H., Weber, H. E., DÜLL, R., Wirth, V., Werner, W. and Paulissen, D. (1991b): Zeigerwerte von Pflanzen in Mitteleuropa, *Scripta Geobotanica*, No 18, Göttingen,
- Evans, M., Holden, J., Flitcroft, C. and Bonn, A. (2005): Understanding gully blocking in deep peat, moors for the future, Castleton, 105 pp. http://www.moorsforthefuture.org.uk/mftf/downloads/publications/Gully%20Blocking%20report.pdf http://www.moorsforthefuture.org.uk/mftf/downloads/publications/APPENDIX_GullyBlockReport.pdf
- Farrell, C. A. & Doyle, G. J. (2003): Rehabilitation of industrial cutaway atlantic blanket bog in County Mayo, North-West Ireland, *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, No 11, p. 21-35.
- Faubert, P. & Rochefort, L. (2002): Response of peatland mosses to burial by winddispersed peat, *The Bryologist*, No 105 (1), p. 96-103.
- Fisch, C. (2002): Touristische Transportanlagen und Schutz von Mooren und Moorlandschaften, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 6.1.1.
- Foss, P. & O'Connell, C. (1998): The IPCC Peatland Conservation and Management Handbook, Irish Peatland Conservation Council, Dublin, p. 82.

- Foster, A. P. & Procter, D. A. (1995): The Occurence of some scarce east anglian fen invertebrates in relation to vegetation management, In: Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt, W. J., and Robertson, R. A.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, p. 223-240.
- Fraser, C. J. D., Roulet, N. T. and Lafleur, M. (2001): Groundwater flow patterns in a large peatland, *Journal of Hydrology*, 246, p. 154-
- Galatowitsch, S. M. & Van der Valk, A. G. (1995): Natural revegetation during restoration of wetlands in the Southern Prairie Pothole Region of North America, In: Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt, W. J., and Robertson, R. A.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore, p. 129-142.
- Gardner, R. C. (2003): Rehabilitating Nature: A comparative review of legal mechanisms that encourage wetland restoration efforts, *The Catholic University of America, Columbus School of Law*, No 52 (3), p. 572-620.
- Gaudig, G. (2001): Sphagnum als nachwachsender Rohstoff Stand der Forschungen, Etablierung von Sphagnen, Optimierung der Wuchsbedingungen, Literature reviev for Ernst-Moritz-Arndt-Universität Greifswald, 73 pp. <u>http://www.uni-</u> greifswald.de/~sphagnumfarming/Literatur/Sphagnum Literaturstudie.pdf
- Giesen, W. (2004): Causes of peat swamp forest degradation in Berbak NP, Indonesia, and recommendations for restoration, *Water for Food and Ecosystems Programme*, International Agricultural Centre (IAC) in cooperation with Alterra, Arcadis Euroconsult, Wageningen University / Lei, Wl / Delft Hydraulics, Wetlands International , 127 pp. http://www.waterfoodecosystems.nl/docs/AirHitamLaut/Rehabilitation.PDF
- **Givati, A. & Rosenfeld, D. (2005):** Separation between cloud-seeding and air-pollution effects, *Journal of applied meterology*, 44, p. 1298-1314. http://www.earth.huji.ac.il/data/pics/Givati Separation JAM05.pdf
- Goldammer, J.G., Prüter, J. and Page, H. (1997): Feuereinsatz im Naturschutz in Mitteleuropa. Ein Positionspapier. Alfred Toepfer Akademie für Naturschutz, Schneverdingen, NNA-Berichte 10, Heft 5, p. 2-17. <u>http://www.fire.uni-freiburg.de/programmes/natcon/natcon_2.htm</u>
- Gorham, E. & Rochefort, L. (2003): Peatland restoration: A Brief assessment with special reference to *Sphagnum* Bogs, *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, No 11, Kluwer Academic Publishers. Printed in the Netherlands, p.109-119. http://www.gret-perg.ulaval.ca/Gorham_Rochefort_WEM.pdf
- Grootjans, A. P., Adema, E. B., Bleuten, W., Joosten, H., Madaras, M. and Janakova, M. (2006): Hydrological landscape settings of base-rich fen mires and fen meadows: an overview, *Applied Vegetation Science*, No. 9, p. 175-184.
- Grootjans, A. P. & Diggelen, R. (1995): Assessing the restoration prospects of degraded fens, In: Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt, W. J., and Robertson, R. A.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore, p. 73-90.
- Grootjans, A. P. & Duren, I. (2001): Qualitative hydrological conditions for the restoration of desiccated fen meadows, *Angewandte Landschaftsökologie*, 38, In: Nick, K. J., Löpmeier, F. J., Schiff, H., Blankenburg, J., Gebhardt, H., Knabke, C., Weber, H. E., Främbs, H., and Mossakowski, D.: *Moorregeneration im Leegmoor/Emsland nach Schwarztofrabbau und Wiedervernässung*, Bundesamt für Naturschutz, Bonn Bad Godesberg, p. 16-21.
- **Grosvernier, P., Matthey, Y. and Buttler, A. (1995):** Microclimate and physical properties of peat New clues to the understanding of bog restoration processes, In: Wheeler, B. D. & Shaw, S. C.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore, p. 435-450.

- Hayward, P. M. & Clymo, R. S. (1982): Profiles of water content and pore size in sphagnum and peat, and their relation to peat bog ecology, *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London*, No B 215, p. 299-325.
- Hayward, P. M. & Clymo, R. S. (1983): The growth of sphagnum: experiments on, and simulation of, some effects of light flux and water-table depth, *Journal of Ecology*, No 71 (3), p. 845-863.
- Heathwaite, L. (1995): Problems in the hydrological management of cut-over raised mires, with special reference to Thorne Moors, South Yorkshire, In: Wheeler, B. D. & Shaw, S. C.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore, p. 315-329.
- Heikkilä, H. & Lindholm, T. (1995): The basis of mire restoration in finland, In: Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt, W. J., and Robertson, R. A.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, p. 548-556.
- Hemond, H. F. & Goldman, J. C. (1985): On non-darcyan water flow in peat, *Journal of Ecology*, No 73, p. 579-584.
- Hertzman, T. & Larsson, T. (1999): Lake Hornborga, Sweden The return of a bird lake, Wetlands International, the Netherlands, Wageningen, 82 pp.
- Hope, G. & Whinam, J. (2004): Mire rehabilitation programs in montane Australia, *IMCG Newsletter*, 2,
- Hope, G., Whinam, J. and Good, R. (2005): Methods and preliminary results of post-fire experimental trials of restoration techniques in the peatlands of Namadgi (ACT) and Kosciuszko National Parks (NSW), *Ecological Management & Restoration*, Vol. 6, No. 3, 214-217. http://www.blackwell-synergy.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1442-8903.2005.239-2.x#article
- Hölzel, N. (2003): Ecological significance of seed banks, germination and establishment for the restoration of flood-meadows, *Postdoctoral lecture qualification - Justus-Liebig-University Gießen*, 142 pp. <u>http://geb.uni-giessen.de/geb/volltexte/2005/2303/pdf/HoelzelNorbert-2004-</u> 06-02.pdf
- Hulme, P. D. & Birnie, R. V. (1997): Grazing-induced degradation of blanket mire: its measurement and management, In: Tallis, J. H., Meade, R., and Hulme, P. D.: *Blanket Mire Degradation - Causes, Consequences and Challenges*, The Macaulay Land Use Research Institute, Aberdeen, the Mire Research Group and British Ecological Research Group, Aberdeen, p. 163-173.
- Imeson, A. C. (1971): Heather burning and soil erosion on the North Yorkshire Moors, *The Journal of Applied Ecology*, Vol. 8, No 2, p. 537-542. <u>http://links.jstor.org/sici?sici=0021-8901%28197108%298%3A2%3C537%3AHBASEO%3E2.0.CO%3B2-G</u>
- Ingram, H. A. P. (1983): Hydrology, In: Gore, A. J. P.: *Ecosystems of the world 4A. Mires: swamp, bog, fen and moor*, Elsevier, Amsterdam, p. 67-158.
- **Ingram, H. A. P. (1992):** Introduction to the ecohydrology of mires in the context of cultural perturbation, In: Bragg, M. O., Hulme, P. D., Ingram, H. A. P., and Robertson, R. A.: *Peatland Ecosystem and Man An Impact Assessment*, Department of Biological Sciences, University of Dundee, U.K. and The International Peat Society, Jyväskylä, Finland, p. 67-95.
- Ingram, H. A. P., Fojt, W. J. and Smart, P. J. (1985): Die Durchlässigkeitsmerkmale des Niedermoortorfes im Upton Fen, *TELMA*, No 15, p. 67-74.
- Ingram, H. A. P., Rycroft, D. W. and Williams, D. J. A. (1974): Anomalous transition of water through certain peats, *Journal of Hydrology*, No 22, p. 213-218.
- Ivanov, K. E. (1981): Water movement in mirelands, Academic Press, London,
- Jackson, D. M., Swift, C. T., Schmugge, T. J. and Schiebe, F. R. (1995): Large area mapping of soil moisture using the estar passive microwave radiometer in Washita '92, *Remote Sensing of Environment*, No. 53, p. 27-37.

- Joosten, H. (1992): Bog regeneration in the netherlands: A review, In: Bragg, M. O., Hulme, P. D., Ingram, H. A. P., and Robertson, R. A.: *Peatland Ecosystem and Man: An Impact Assessment*, Department of Biological Science, University of Dundee, Dundee, p. 367-373.
- **Joosten, H. (1993):** Denken wie ein Hochmoor: Hydrologische Selbstregulation von Hochmooren und deren Bedeutung für Wiedervernässung und Restauration, *TELMA*, 23, Deutsche Gesellschaft für Moor- und Torfkunde (DGMT), Hannover, p. 95-115.
- Joosten, J.H.J. (1995): Time to regenerate: long-term perspectives of raised bog regeneration with special emphasis on palaeoecological studies. In: B.D. Wheeler, S.C. Shaw, W.J. Fojt & R.A. Robertson (eds.): Restoration of temperate wetlands. Wiley, Chichester, 379 404.
- **Joosten, H. (2008):** The challenge of being domed: Hydrological self-regulation, conservation, and restoration of south-east Asian peatswamp forests. Mires & Peat (submitted).
- Joosten, H. & Clarke, D. (2002): Wise Use of Mires and Peatlands, International Mire Conservation Group and International Peat Society, 304 pp.
- **Kapfer, A. (1988):** Versuche zur Renaturierung gedüngten Feuchtgrünlandes Aushagerung und Vegetationsentwicklung, *Dissertationes Botanicae*, 120, Gebrüder Bornträger, Berlin und Stuttgart, 144 pp.
- Koerselman, W. & Verhoeven, J. T. A. (1995): Eutrophication for fen ecosystems: external and internal nutrient sources and restoration strategies, In: Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt, W. J., and Robertson, R. A.: *Restoration of temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, p. 91-112.
- Koppisch, D., Roth, S., Knapp, M., Blankenburg, J. and Eschner, D. (2001): Einfluss von Vernässung und Bewirtschaftung auf Pflanzliche Nährstoffe, In: Kratz, R. & Pfadenhauer, J.: Ökosystemmanagement für Niedermoore - Strategien und Verfahren zur Renaturierung, Verlag Eugen Ulmer, Stuttgart, p. 92-104.
- Koska, I. (2001): Standortskundliche Kennzeichnung und Bioindikation, In: Succow, M. & Joosten, H.: *Landschaftsökologische Moorkunde*, E. Schweizerbart'sche Verlagsbuchhandlung, Stuttgart, p. 128-144.
- Koska, I. & Stegmann, H. (2001): Revitalisierung eines Quellmoorkomplexes im Sernitz-Oberlauf, In: Succow, M. & Joosten, H.: *Landschaftsökologische Moorkunde*, E. Schweizerbartsche Verlagsbuchhandlung, Stuttgart, p. 509-517.
- Koska, I., Succow, M. and Clausnitzer, U. (2001): Vegetation als Komponente Landschaftsökologischer Naturraumkennzeichnung, In: Succow, M. & Joosten, H.: *Landschaftsökologische Moorkunde*, E. Schweizerbartsche Verlagsbuchhandlung, Stuttgart, p. 112-128.
- Lindsay, R. (2003): Peat forming process and restoration management, In: Meade, R.: *Proceedings of the Risley Moss Bog Restoration Workshop, 26-27 February 2003*, English Nature, Peterborough, p. 23-38. <u>http://www.english-</u> <u>nature.org.uk/pubs/publication/PDF/RisleyMossWkshp.pdf</u>
- LUA, B. (2004): Leitfaden zur Renaturierung von Feuchtgebieten in Brandenburg, Studien und Tagungsberichte, Schriftenreihe, 50, Landesumweltamt Brandenburg, Potsdam, 192 pp. <u>http://www.brandenburg.de/cms/detail.php/lbm1.c.213137.de</u>
- Maas, D. & Schopp-Guth, A. (1995): Seed banks in fen areas and their potential use in restoration, In: Wheeler, B. D. & Shaw, S. C.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore, p. 189-206.
- Mawby, F. J. (2003): South Solway Mosses National Nature Reserve: A review of damming practice since 1979, In: Meade, R.: *Proceedings of the Risley Moss Bog Restoration Workshop*, 26-27 February 2003, English Nature, Peterborough, p. 60-64. <u>http://www.englishnature.org.uk/pubs/publication/PDF/RisleyMossWkshp.pdf</u>
- Mc Ininch, S. M., Garbisch, E. W. and Salvaggio, G. J. (2007): Control of *Phragmites australis* by consecutive cuttings and flooding, *Wetland Journal*, No 8 (1), p. 18-20.

- Meade, R. (2003): Establishment of peat-forming vegetation on a degraded raised bog: Replacing existing plant cover, In: Meade, R.: *Proceedings of the Risley Moss Bog Restoration Workshop, 26-27 February 2003*, English Nature, Peterborough, p. 42-47. http://www.english-nature.org.uk/publs/publication/PDF/RisleyMossWkshp.pdf
- Meier, R. (2002): Besucherlenkung in und an Moorbiotopen, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 6.1.4.
- Merrilees, D. W., Tiley, G. E. D. and Gwynne, D. C. (1995): Restoration of wet heathland after opencast mining, In: Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt, W. J., and Robertson, R. A.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, p. 523-532.
- Miller, G. R., Miles, J. and Heal, O. W. (1984): Moorland Management: A study of Exmoor, In: A report commissioned by the Countryside CommissionNatural Environment Research Council: Institute of Terrestrial Ecology, Cambridge, 130 pp.
- Mitchley, J., Burch, F., Buckley, P. and Watt, T. A. (2000): Habitat restoration monitoring handbook, *English Nature Research Reports*, 378, English Nature, Peterborough, 26 pp. excl. Appendix 22 pp. <u>http://www.english-</u>
- <u>nature.org/pubs/publication/pub_results.asp?C=0&K=&K2=378&I=&A=&Submit1=Search</u>
 Moen, A. (1995): Vegetational changes in boreal rich fens induced by haymaking,
 Management plan for the Solendet Nature Reserve, In: Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt,
 W. J., and Robertson, R. A.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, p. 167-181.
- Money, R. P. (1995): Re-establishment of a sphagnum-dominated flora on cut-over lowland raised bogs, In: Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt, W. J., and Robertson, R. A.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, p. 405-422.
- Müller, K. & Görschen, M. (1986): Vergleich der Wirkung von Mahd und Beweidung als Pflegemassnahme im regenerierenden Hochmoor, *Gutachten im Auftrag des schlewswigholsteinischen Ministeriums für Ernährung, Landwirtschaft und Forsten*, pp. 104.
- Najiyati, S., Muslihat, L. and Suryadiputra, I. N. N. (2005): Panduan Pengelolaan Lahan Gambut - Untuk Pertain Berkelanjutan, In: Climate Change, F. a. P. i. I. P.: Wetlands International - Indonesia Programme and Wildlife Habitat Canada, Bogor, 241 pp.
- Nick, K. J., Blankenburg, J., Eggelsmann, R., Weber, H. E., Mossakowski, D.,
 Beinhauer, R. and Lienemann, J. (1993): Beiträge zur Wiedervernässung abgebauter Schwarztorfflächen - Ergebnisse eines Erprobungs- und Entwicklungsvorhabens im Leegmoor, Landkreis Emsland, *Naturschutz und Landschaftspflege in Niedersachsen*, *Nr.29*, Niedersächisches Landesamt für Ökologie, Hannover, 127 pp.
- Nick, K. J., Löpmeier, F. J., Schiff, H., Blankenburg, J., Gebhardt, H., Knabke, C., Weber, H. E., Främbs, H. and Mossakowski, D. (2001): Moorregeneration im Leegmoor/Emsland nach Schwarztorfabbau und Wiedervernässung, *Angewandte Landschaftsökologie*, 38, Bundesamt für Naturschutz, Bonn - Bad Godesberg, 204 pp.
- Nuyim, T. (2005): Manual on peat swamp forest rehabilitation and planting in Thailand, In: Lee, D., Parish, F., Adnan, M., Keong, C. C., and translated by Sumantakul, V. a. S. A.: Global Environment Centre & Wetlands International - Thailand Office, 96 pp.
- **NWT (2003):** The border mires active blanket bog rehabilitation project Final Report, Northumberland Wildlife Trust (NWT), Newcastle, 49 pp and 34 pp appendix.
- **OECD (2001):** Citizens as partners Information, consulation and public participation in policy-making, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris, 267 pp. <u>http://www1.oecd.org/publications/e-book/4201131E.PDF</u>
- Oomes, T. J. M. & Kemmers, R. H. (2001): Effects of raising the groundwater level on availability and uptake of nutrients by grassland, 38, In: Nick, K. J., Löpmeier, F. J., Schiff, H., Blankenburg, J., Gebhardt, H., Knabke, C., Weber, H. E., Främbs, H., and Mossakowski, D.: *Moorregeneration im Leegmoor/Emsland nach Schwarztorfabbau und Wiedervernässung*, Bundesamt für Naturschutz, Bonn - Bad Godesberg, p. 13-16.

- Page, S. E., Siegert, F., Rieley, J. O., Boehm, H.-D. V., Jaya, A. and Limin, S. (2002): The amount of carbon released from peat and forest fires in Indonesia during 1997, *Nature*, 420, p. 61-65.
- Parish, F., Sirin, A., Charman, D., Joosten, H., Minaeva, T. & Silvius, M. (eds) (2007): Assessment on peatlands, biodiversity and climate change, Global Environment Centre, Kuala Lumpur and Wetlands International Wageningen.
- Petts, J. & Leach, B. (2000): Evaluating methods for puplic participation: Literature review, *R&D Technical Report: E135*, Environment Agency, Bristol, p. 1-74. <u>http://www.corwm.org.uk/pdf%5C0549%20%20-%20litrev~1.pdf</u>
- Pfadenhauer, J. (1994): Restoration of fens in southern Germany Principles and Concepts, In: Jankowska-Huflejt, H. & Golubiewska, E.: *Conservation and Management of Fens*, Proceedings of the International Symposium, International Peat Society, Warsaw -Biebrza, p. 266-272.
- Pfadenhauer, J., Höper, H., Borkowsky, O., Roth, S., Seeger, T. & Wagner, C. (2001): Entwicklung pflanzenartenreichen Niedermoorgrünlands, In: Kratz, R. & Pfadenhauer, J.: *Ökosystemmanagement für Niedermoore - Strategien und Verfahren zur Renaturierung*, Verlag Eugen Ulmer, Stuttgart, p. 134-154.
- Pielou, E. C. (1969): An introduction to mathematical ecology, 286 pp.
- Pielou, E. C. (1974): Population and Community Ecology Priciples and Methods, 424 pp.
- Poelman, A. & Joosten, H. (1992): On the identification of hydrological interaction zones for bog reserves, In: Bragg, M. O., Hulme, P. D., Ingram, H. A. P., and Robertson, R. A.: *Peatland Ecosystem and Man - An Impact Assessment*, Department of Biological Sciences, University of Dundee, U.K. and The International Peat Society, Jyväskylä, Finland, p. 141-148.
- Poschlod, P. (1995): Diaspore rain and diaspore bank in raised bogs and implications for the restoration of peat-mined sites, In: Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt, W. J., and Robertson, R. A.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, p. 471-495.
- Poulin, M., Careau, D., Rochefort, L. & Desrochers, A. (2002): From satellite imagery to peatland vegetation diversity: How reliable are habitat maps?, *Conservation Ecology*, No 6 (2), <u>http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol6/iss2/art16/</u>
- Price, J. S., Heathwaite, A. L. & Baird, A. J. (2003): Hydrological processes in abandoned and restored peatlands: An overview of management approaches, *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, No 11, p. 65-85.
- Quinty, F. & Rochefort, L. (2003): Peatland restoration guide, 2., Canadian Peat Moss Association and New Brunswick Department of Natural Resources and Energy, Quebec, Quebec, 106 pp. <u>http://www.peatmoss.com/pm-restguide.php</u>
- Quinty, F. R. L. (2003): Peatland restoration guide, second edition, Canadian Sphagnum Peat Moss Association and New Brunswick Department of Natural Resources and Energy, Quebec. <u>http://www.peatmoss.com/pm-restguide.php</u>
- Reeve, A. S., Siegel, D. I. & Glaser, P. H. (2000): Simulating vertical flow in large peatlands, *Journal of Hydrology*, No 227, p. 207-217.
- Reeves, P. N. & Champion, P. D. (2004): Effects of livestock grazing on wetlands: Literature review, prepared for Environment Waikato, National Institute of Water & Atmospheric Research Ltd, Hamilton, New Zealand, http://www.wetlandtrust.org.nz/documents/grazing.pdf
- Richards, J. R. A., Wheeler, B. D. & Willis, A. J. (1995): The growth and value of *Eriophorum angustifolium* Hinck. in relation to the revegetation of eroding blanket peat, In: Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt, W. J., and Robertson, R. A.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, p. 509-523.

Rieley, J. O. & Page, S. E. (2005): Wise use of tropical peatlands - Focus on South East Asia, Alterra - Wageningen University and Research Centre and EU INCO - STRAPEAT abd RESTORPEAT Partnerships, p. 168.

http://www.restorpeat.alterra.wur.nl/download/WUG+2005-09-16.pdf

- Rieley, J. O., Page, S. E. & Shepherd, P. A. (1997): Tropical bog forests of South East Asia, In: Parkyn, L., Stoneman, R. E., and Ingram, H. A. P.: *Conserving Peatlands*, CAB International, Oxon U.K., New York USA, p. 35-44.
- Rizutti, A. M., Cohen, A. D. & Stack, E. M. (2004): Using hydraulic conductivity and micropetrography to assess water flow through peat-Containing Wetlands, *International Journal of Coal Geology*, No 60, p. 1-16.
- Rochefort, L. (2000): *Sphagnum* A keystone genus in habitat restoration, *The Bryologist*, No 103 (3), p. 503-508.
- Rochefort, L. & Bastien, D. F. (1998): Réintroduction de sphaignes dans une tourbiere exploitée : Évaluation de divers moyens de protection contre la desiccation, *Ecoscience*, No 5 (1), p. 117-127.
- Rochefort, L. & Campeau, S. (1997): Rehabilitation work on post-harvested bogs in south eastern Canada, In: Parkyn, L., Stoneman, R. E., and Ingram, H. A. P.: *Conserving Peatlands*, CAB International, Oxon U.K., New York USA, p. 287-294.
- Rochefort, L., Gauthier, R. & Le Qere, D. (1995): Sphagnum regeneration Towards an optimisation of bog restoration, In: Wheeler, B. D. & Shaw, S. C.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore, p. 423-434.
- Romanov, V. V. (1968): Hydrophysics of bogs, Israel program of scientific translations, Jerusalem,
- Rosell, F., Bozser, O., Collen, P. & Parker, H. (2005): Ecological impact of beavers (*Castor fiber* and *Castor canadensis*) and their ability to modify ecosystems, *Mammal Rev.*, No 35 (3&4), Singapore, p. 248-276. <u>http://www.blackwell-</u>synergy.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.1365-2907.2005.00067.x#article
- Ross, S. & Cowan, R. (2003): Review of the success of raised bog restoration techniques used in Greater Manchester, In: Meade, R.: *Proceedings of the Risley Moss Bog Restoration Workshop*, 26-27 February 2003, English Nature, Peterborough, p. 39-41. <u>http://www.english-nature.org.uk/pubs/publication/PDF/RisleyMossWkshp.pdf</u>
- Roth, S., Seeger, T., Poschold, P., Pfadenhauer, J., and Succow, M. (2001): Etablierung von Röhrichten und Seggenrieden, In: Kratz, R. & Pfadenhauer, J.: *Ökosystemmanagement für Niedermoore Strategien und Verfahren zur Renaturierung*, Ulmer, Stuttgart, p. 125-134.
- Rowe, G. & Frewer, L. J. (2006): Public participation methods: A framework for evaluation, *31*, Institute of Food Research, <u>http://sth.sagepub.com/cgi/reprint/25/1/3</u>
- Rycroft, D. W., Williams, D. J. A. and Ingram, H. A. P. (1975): The transmissivity of water through peat, *Journal of Ecology* 63: 535-556.
- Schipper, A.M., Zeefat, R., Tanneberger, F., van Zuidam, J. P., Hahne, W., Schep, S.A., Loos, S., Bleuten, W., Joosten, H., Lapshina, E.D. & Wassen, M.J. (2007):
 VeGETATION CHARACTERISTICS AND ECO-HYDROLOGICAL PROCESSES IN A PRISTINE MIRE IN THe Ob River valley (Western Siberia). Plant Ecology 193: 131-145.
- Schopp-Guth, A. (1999): Renaturierung von Moorlandschaften Naturschutzfachliche Anforderungen aus Bundesweiter Sicht, Bundesamt für Naturschutz, Bonn-Bad Godesberg, 219 pp.
- Schouwenaars, J. M. (1995): The selection of internal and external watermanagement options for bog restoration, In: Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt, W. J., and Robertson, R. A.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, p. 331-346.

- Schumann, M. & Joosten, H. (2006): Towards a global exchange of peatland restoration information, with special attention to the Ruoergai Plateau (China), *Proceedings of the international symposium and workshop: Restoration and Wise Use of Tropical peatlands -Problems of Biodiversity, Fire, Poverty and Water Management, Palangka Raya -Indonesia, september 2005*,
- Schumann, M. & Joosten, H. (2007): Development, degradation and restoration of peatlands on the Ruoergai Plateau .A first analysis. Wetlands International China Programme, Beijing, 52 p.
- Scottish Wildlife Trust & English Nature (1995): Monitoring raised bogs Workshop Report, *English Nature - Research Reports*, No 189, English Nature, Peterborough, 62 pp. <u>http://www.english-</u>

nature.org.uk/pubs/publication/pub results.asp?C=0&K=&K2=189&I=&A=&Submit1=Search

- Shaw, S. C., Wheeler, B. D. & Backshall, J. (1997): Review of effects of burning and grazing of blanket bogs; conservation issues and conflicts, In: Tallis, J. H., Meade, R., and Hulme, P. D.: *Blanket Mire Degradation - Causes, Consequences and Challenges*, The Macaulay Land Use Research Institute, Aberdeen, the Mire Research Group and British Ecological Research Group, Aberdeen, p. 174-182.
- Siuda, C. (2002): Leitfaden der Hochmoorrenaturierung in Bayern für Fachbehörden, Naturschutzorganisationen und Planer, Bayerisches Landesamt für Umweltschutz, Augsburg, 65 pp.

http://www.lfu.bayern.de/natur/fachinformationen/moorentwicklungskonzept/leitfaeden/doc/hochmoorleitfad en.pdf

- Sjörs, H. (1950): On the relation between vegetation and electrolytes in north swedisch mire waters, *Oikos*, No 2, p. 241-258.
- Sliva, J. (1997): Renaturierung von industriell abgetorften Hochmooren am Beispiel der Kendlmühlfilzen, Herbert Utz Verlag Wissenschaft, München, 221 pp.
- Sliva, J., Maas, D. & Pfadenhauer, J. (1997): Rehabilitation of milled fields, In: Parkyn, L., Stoneman, R. E., and Ingram, H. A. P.: *Conserving Peatlands*, CAB International, Oxon U.K., New York USA, p. 295-314.
- **Stadler, F. (2002a):** Grundsätze für Weideführung, Stallhaltung und Düngung, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 3.1.3.
- **Stadler, F. (2002b):** Interne Erschliessung von Alpen in Moorgebieten, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 3.1.4.
- **Stadler, F. (2002c):** Moorschutz in Gebieten mit Alpwirtschftlicher Nutzung, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 3.1.2.
- Staub, R. (2002): Golf und Moorschutz, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 6.1.3.
- Staubli, P. (2004): Regeneration von Hochmooren im Kanton Zug, Vierteljahrsschrift der Naturforschenden Gesellschaft in Zürich, No 148 (2-3), p. 75-81.
- Stauffer, E. N. & Williams, K. (2000): Utah Cloud Seeding Program Increased Runoff/Cost Analysis, Utah Department of Natural Resources, Division of Water Resources, <u>http://www.nawcinc.com/utcsprog.pdf</u>
- Succow, M. & Joosten, H. (2001): Landschaftsökologische Moorkunde, E. Schweizerbartsche Verlagsbuchhandlung, Stuttgart, 622 pp.
- Suryadiputra, I. N. N., Dohong, A., Waspodo, R. S. B., Muslihat, L., Lubis, I. R., Hasudungan, F. & Wibisono, I. T. C. (2005): A guide to the blocking of canals and ditches - in conjunction with the community, In: Climate Change, F. a. P. i. I. P.: Wetlands International - Indonesia Programme and Wildlife Habitat Canada, Bogor, 170 pp.

- Suter, E. (2002): Militärische Nutzung und Moorschutz, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 7.1.1.
- Tallowin, J., Kirkham, F., Smith, R. & Mountford, O. (1998): Residual effects of phosphorus fertilization on the restoration of floristic diversity to wet grassland, In: Joyce, C. B. & Wade, P. M.: *European Wet Grasslands Biodiversity, Management and Restoration*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, p. 249-263.
- Tiner, R. W. (1991): The concept of a hydrophyte for a wetland identification, *BioScience*, No 41, p. 236-247.
- Tiner, R. W. (1999): Wetland indicators: A guide to wetland identification, delineation, classification, and mapping, Lewis Publishers, CRC Press, Boca Roton,
- Tomassen, H. B. M. (2004): Revival of dutch sphagnum bogs: A reasonable perspective?, Febodruk B.V., Enschede, 208 pp. <u>http://webdoc.ubn.ru.nl/mono/t/tomassen_h/reviofdus.pdf</u>
- Trepel, M., Bode, M., Reiche, E. W. & Schrautzer, J. (1999): Bedeutung von Nährstoffausträgen aus Niedermooren und Strategien ihrer Vermeidung - Abschlußbericht des LAWA-Vorhabens K5.64, Christian-Albrechts-Universität Kiel, Ökologie Zentrum Kiel, 119 pp.
- Trepel, M., Dall'O, M., Cin, L. D., Wit, M., Opitz, S., Palmeri, L., Perrson, J., Pieterse, N. M., Timmermann, T., Bendoriccio, G., Kluge, W. & Jorgensen, S. E. (2000): Models for wetland planning, design and management, *EcoSys*, No 8, p. 93-137.
- Trepel, M. & Kluge, W. (2003): Analyse von Wasserpfaden und Stofftransformationen in Feuchtgebieten zur Bewertung der diffusen Austräge, In: Lenschow, U.: *Stoffausträge aus wiedervernässten Niedermooren - Fachbeiträge auf einem wissenschaftlichen Kolloquium in Güstrow am 25. Februar 2002*, Landesamt für Umwelt, Naturschutz und Geologie, Güstrow, p. 92-107.
- Treweek, J., Jose, P. and Benstead, P. ed. (1997): The wet grassland guide Managing floodplain and coastal wet grasslands for wildlife, The Royal Society for the Protection of Birds, 254 pp.
- Van der Hoek, D. & Braakhekke, W. (1998): Restoration of soil chemical conditions of fen-meadow plant communities by water management in the Netherlands, In: Joyce, C. B. & Wade, P. M.: *European Wet Grasslands Biodiversity, Management and Restoration*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, p. 265-275.
- Van der Schaaf, S. (1999): Analysis of the hydrology of raised bogs in the irish midlands. A case study of Raahenmore Bog and Clara Bog, Ph.D.-Thesis, University of Wageningen,
- van Wirdum, G. (1995): The regeneration of fens in abandoned peat pits below sea level in the Netherlands, In: Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt, W. J., and Robertson, R. A.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, p. 251-272.
- Vancouver Citizens Committee (2006): The Citizen's Handbook A guide to building community, Vancouver, http://www.vcn.bc.ca/citizens-handbook/welcome.html
- Vanderpoorten, A., Delescaille, L.-M. & Jacquemart, A.-E. (2004): The bryophyte layer in a calcareous grassland after a decade of contrasting mowing regimes, *Biological Conservation*, No 117, p. 11-18.
- Vesk, A. P. & Westoby, M. (2001): Predicting plant species' responses to grazing, *Journal of Applied Ecology*, No 38, p. 897-909.
- Vives, T. (1996): Monitoring mediterranean wetlands A methodological guide, Med Wet Publication Wetlands International, Slimbridge UK and ICN, Lisbon, 150 pp. <u>http://www.medwet.org/medwetnew/en/00.TEXTS/04.3.publications/monitoring1.pdf</u> <u>http://www.medwet.org/medwetnew/en/00.TEXTS/04.3.publications/monitoring2.pdf</u>

- Wagner, A. & Wagner, I. (2003): Leitfaden der Niedermoorrenaturierung in Bayern für Fachbehörden, Naturschutzorganisationen und Planer, In: Bayerisches Landesamt für Umweltschutz (Hrsg.) & Wagner, A. u. W. I. B.: Bayrisches Landesamt für Umweltschutz, Augsburg, <u>http://www.wagner-ugau.de/data/profil/docs/inhaltsverzeichnis-leitfaden-Niedermoorrenaturierung.pdf</u>
- Wang, J., Seliskar, D. M., Gallagher, J. L. & Leage, M. T. (2006): Blocking *Phragmites australis* reinvasion of restored marshes using plants selected from wild populations and tissue culture, *Wetlands Ecology and Management*, No 14, p. 539-547.
- Wassen, M. J., Venterink, H. Q., Lapshina, E. D. and Tanneberger, F. (2005): Endangered Plants Persist Under Phosphorus Limitation, *Nature*, 437 (7058), p. 547-550.
- Wheeler, B. D., Money, R. P. and Shaw, S. C. (2003): Bunders, blunders, blenders and bogs, In: Meade, R.: *Proceedings of the Risley Moss Bog Restoration Workshop*, 26-27 *February 2003*, English Nature, Peterborough, p. 12-21. <u>http://www.english-nature.org.uk/pubs/publication/PDF/RisleyMossWkshp.pdf</u>
- Wheeler, B. D. & Shaw, S. C. (1995a): A focus on fens Controls on the composition of fen vegetation in relation to restoration, In: Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt, W. J., and Robertson, R. A.: *Restoration of Temperate Wetlands*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, New York, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore, p. 48-72.
- Wheeler, B. D. & Shaw, S. C. (1995b): Restoration of damaged peatlands With particular reference to lowland raised bogs affected by peat extraction, Crown copyright, HMSO, London, 211 pp.
- Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt, W. J. & Robertson, R. A. (1995): Restoration of Temperate Wetlands, In: Wheeler, B. D., Shaw, S. C., Fojt, W. J., and Robertson, R. A.: John Wiley & Sons Ltd., Chichester, 562 pp.
- Whinam, J. & Chilcott, N. (1999): Impacts of trampling on alpine environments in Central Tasmania, *Journal of Environmental Management*, No 57 / 3, p. 205-220.
- Wibisono, I. T. C., Siboro, L. & Suryadiputra, I. N. N. (2005): Panduan rehabilitasi dan teknik silvikultur di Lahan Gambut, Proyek Climate Change, Forests and Peatlands in Indonesia. Wetlands International - Indonesia Programme dan Wildlife Habitat. Canada. Bogor., p. 174.
- Wichtmann, W. & Joosten, H. (2007): Paludiculture: Peat formation and renewable resources from rewetted peatlands. IMCG Newsletter 2007/3: 24-28.
- Wildermuth, H. (2002): Pflege von Kleingewässern in Mooren, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 2.1.6.
- Wilson, E. (1995): Monitoring bogs with a tiny resource The voluntary sector approach, In: English Nature and Scottish Wildlife Trust: *Monitoring raised bogs - Workshop report*, p. 18-28. <u>http://www.english-</u>
- nature.org.uk/pubs/publication/pub_results.asp?C=0&K=&K2=189&I=&A=&Submit1=Search
- Wyl, B., Dietl, W. & Wenger, D. (2002a): Zur Beweidung von Hoch- und Flachmooren, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 3.1.1.
- Wyl, B., Stadler, F. & Leupi, E. (2002b): Minimalpflege von Mooren in Hochlagen, In: BUWAL: *Moore und Moorschutz in der Schweiz Ausgabe*, Bundesamt für Umwelt, Wald und Landschaft, Bern, chapter 2.1.2.